
Common Council

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers7:00 PMWednesday, February 1, 2023

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. INVOCATION

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

D. ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONS

E. ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS

F. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

23-0081 Common Council Meeting Minutes of January 18, 2023

 

CC Minutes 1-18-23.pdfAttachments:

G. BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYOR

23-0090 Proclamations:

  - Burn Awareness Week

  - Transit Equity Day

  - Black History Month

  - Career & Technical Education Month

  - Gun Violence Survivor Week

 

Burn Awareness Week Proclamation.pdf

Transit Equity Day Proclamation.pdf

Black History Month Proclamation.pdf

Career and Technical Education Month Proclamation.pdf

Gun Violence Survivor Week Proclamation.pdf

Attachments:

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 1/31/2023

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22257
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3f6cf80b-628e-46d9-aa4e-84a59cf40c15.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22266
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=13a6066e-45e5-4b16-a1af-a57d086c4a44.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2822e746-e7f6-4c38-8f91-8f4ad798edb9.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7d83e859-86c7-4886-82ad-c3feaed2a2dc.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=62c3d06a-7abb-481f-a4ea-6302d9d3cf0b.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f93f7982-8f64-464c-92f8-fa468318ba0b.pdf


February 1, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

23-0033 Public Hearing for Subdivision Ordinance Text Amendments - Sections: 

17-3; 17-4; 17-29; 17-30; 17-31; 17-32; 17-33; 17-34; and 17-35

 

TA 5-22 Notice of Public Hearing Subdivision Ordinance.pdfAttachments:

22-1530 Public Hearing for the Street Vacation of portions of Appleton Street, 

Pacific Street, & Oneida Street

Public Hearing - SV AppletonPacificOneida.pdfAttachments:

J. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

23-0034 Final Resolution for the Street Vacation of portions of Appleton Street, 

Pacific Street, & Oneida Street

 

SV AppletonPacificOneida - Final Resolution (with exhibits).pdfAttachments:

K. ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAY

L. COMMITTEE REPORTS

1. MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

23-0068 Request from TC Energy for a permanent street occupancy permit for gas 

pipeline markers along the utility easement within Maple Hills Subdivision.  

 

Maple Hills 12-7-2022 Final Permit Application.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

1/23/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0069 Approve proposed change to Municipal Code 19-91, Parking in front and 

side yard in residential district; parking on terraces.  

 

Municipal code19-91memo.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

1/23/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 1/31/2023

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22209
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d1a1f0af-3ae2-430d-a201-a7ccc3743ac1.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22079
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f80bfbb9-6b4e-4c52-af2f-1531fca8cc16.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22210
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6e95cc2c-96c5-4864-beb0-4e0155d91b63.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22244
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=397a2460-7bff-4152-abe3-5abd8d241977.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22245
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d43a6c67-3ecc-4d09-8f7e-a1548afb50be.pdf


February 1, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

23-0071 Request from The 513 Appleton LLC/Bela Development LLC for a 

permanent street occupancy permit for a building awning project into 

College Avenue right of way.  

 

Permanent street occ-513 Appleton LLC.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

1/23/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0074 Request from Appleton Downtown, Inc. for a street occupancy permit to 

place ice carvings throughout the downtown beautification strips for the 

weekend of February 17, 2023 for "Avenue of Ice"

 

Letter for Avenue of Ice sidewalk Occupancy.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

1/23/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

2. MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

23-0086 Request to Purchase a Red Wave Threat ID Spectrometer.

 

2023.01.18 - Request to Purchase Red Wave Threat ID Spectrometer.pdfAttachments:

23-0087 Intent to Apply for FEMA's Assistance to Firefighter's Grant for Cardiac 

Monitors. 

 

Intent to Apply - Cardiac Monitors - 01.18.2023.pdfAttachments:

23-0080 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License Change of Agent application 

for Aldi Inc d/b/a Aldi #68, Chris R Subert, New Agent, located at 116 N 

Linwood Ave.

Chris R Subert S&L.pdfAttachments:

23-0031 Class "B" Beer License application for El Guadalajara Mexican Restaurant 

LLC d/b/a El Guadalajara Mexican Restaurant, Lucelia Guzman, agent, 

located at 1003B W Northland Ave, contingent upon approval from the 

Community Development and Inspections departments.

El Guadalajara Mexican Restaurant.pdfAttachments:

3. MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Page 3 City of Appleton Printed on 1/31/2023

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22247
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=129c39f6-4659-49ba-872c-d073dc2269db.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22250
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0f11fdfa-66d6-4d7e-9383-1e493f509172.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22262
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=311ff8ff-e127-416c-aa33-a2d8aa11a5ac.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22263
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f96dffd0-fa30-442d-9f54-9495cca44f77.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22256
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7e75e308-d5f3-4044-afcb-545d48427f49.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22207
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=89830250-17f5-4d46-af31-67a5b1ab1cb9.pdf


February 1, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

23-0011 Request to approve text amendments to Chapter 17 Subdivision 

Ordinance of the Municipal Code relating to Sec. 17-3 General Provisions, 

Sec. 17-4 Preplatting Requirements, Sec. 17-29 Dedication of Public 

Sites and Open Spaces, Sec. 17-30 Identification of Dedicated Areas, 

Sec. 17-31 Reservation of Road Widths, Sec. 17-32 Reservation of Public 

Sites, Sec. 17-33 Private Reservations, Sec. 17-34 Right of Refusal, and 

Sec. 17-35 Accomplishment of Dedication, as identified in the attached 

document

StaffReport_TextAmendment_ParklandAndTrails_For01-11-23.pdf

FINAL 2022 Fee in Lieu Baker Tilly.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

1/11/23 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

Proceeds to Council on February 1, 2023.

4. MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE

5. MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

23-0072 Request to award ARPA Affordable Housing grant funds to RISE Apartments, 

LLC for a grant total not to exceed $1,000,000.

Memo ARPA Housing Grant Award 1.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

1/23/23 Finance Committee recommended for approval

6. MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

7. MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE

8. MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

9. MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION

23-0050 Authorization to Award Computer Aided Dispatch and Automated Vehicle 

Location (CAD/AVL) Software Contract to GMV

Award Recommendation GMV.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

1/24/23 Fox Cities Transit 

Commission

recommended for approval

Page 4 City of Appleton Printed on 1/31/2023

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22187
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=15d43786-7130-46f5-844a-bea167d10479.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=442f3c6a-98ae-41d3-a25c-ad613db33eef.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22248
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3eea05e1-0bd8-47a0-b22e-c09f24c0aa1d.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22226
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c763471f-b897-4a10-85ff-44da67cf2054.pdf


February 1, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

23-0051 Authorization to Apply and Accept Rebuilding American Infrastructure with 

Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) discretionary grant

2023 RAISE Appleton Council Resolution.0117.pdf

Conceptual Streetfront and Busway Rendering.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

1/24/23 Fox Cities Transit 

Commission

recommended for approval

23-0076 Authorization to Utilize Stafford Rosenbaum LLP as legal counsel for the 

Transit Center Joint Development project 

Legislative History 

1/24/23 Fox Cities Transit 

Commission

recommended for approval

10. MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH

M. CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMS

N. ITEMS HELD

O. ORDINANCES

23-0082 Ordinances #3-23 to #11-23

 

Ordinances to Council 2-1-23.pdfAttachments:

P. LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION

Q. RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION

R. OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESS

S. ADJOURN

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and 

if feasible.  

Remote meeting attendance may be permitted pursuant to Section 2-29 of the Appleton 

Municipal Code and Rules of Council.

Page 5 City of Appleton Printed on 1/31/2023

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22227
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cf14c8d3-c8b9-4c25-abd1-ea57dac06c27.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=abb6ef04-6225-4772-92c2-852cb2d925ff.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22252
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22258
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d0e8b589-4494-47fb-af6b-529466b96735.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

7:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, January 18, 2023

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 7:06 p.m.

INVOCATIONB.

The Invocation was offered by Alderperson Hartzheim.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGC.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSD.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt, Alderperson Chad Doran and Mayor Jake 

Woodford

Present: 16 - 

ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADSE.

All Departments were represented.

APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTESF.

23-0001 Common Council Meeting Minutes of December 21, 2022

 

CC Minutes 12-21-22.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Del Toro, that the 

Minutes be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 1City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22177
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a540a4c6-1f67-4a41-bd3c-557f31c83bc1.pdf


January 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYORG.

23-0045 Proclamations:

  - Human Trafficking Awareness Day

  - Martin Luther King Jr. Day

 

Human Trafficking Awareness Proclamation.pdf

Martin Luther King Jr Day Proclamation.pdf

Attachments:

23-0046 Library Update

 

Library Update Jan 2023.pdfAttachments:

The Library Project Update was presented.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIONH.

TK Marr, 1024 E Glendale Ave spoke regarding Item 23-0007 Development Agreement 

for 200 W College Avenue

PUBLIC HEARINGSI.

22-1491 Public Hearing for Floodplain Ordinance Text Amendments: North 

Edgewood Estates

 

TA 4-22 Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

The public hearing was held, no one spoke during the hearing.

22-1529 Public Hearing for Rezoning #5-22 at 1208 N. Oneida Street from C-2 

General Commercial District to R-2 Two-Family District.

RZ #5_22 Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

The public hearing was held, no one spoke during the hearing.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONSJ.

ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAYK.

Page 2City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22221
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2f780cf0-944e-47e2-a40f-3795691e1ddb.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bd0214e8-5365-4f32-bbd6-74087dd35838.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22222
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=805362ca-ef6e-4d41-bdb0-458ac38fcce4.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22040
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d2a3da78-a6b8-4795-b5e6-029da9d42540.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22078
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=480ae25a-d6ad-445e-ad64-5a75d09492cc.pdf


January 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0007 Request to approve the Development Agreement with Oshkosh 

Investment LLC and Lofgren Properties 6 LLC for improvements to the 

property located at 200 W. College Avenue (Tax Id #31-2-0263-00) 

(Chase Bank building) in Tax Increment Financing District No. 11

Oshkosh Investment-Lofgren Properties 6 LLC DA Memo to CEDC 

1-11-23.pdf

1046 - Oshkosh-Lofgren - Dev Agrm - 01-04-2023.pdf

Attachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Croatt, that the 

Development Agreement be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the 

following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Katie 

Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, 

Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya 

Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson 

Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad 

Doran

13 - 

Nay: Alderperson Vered Meltzer and Alderperson Israel Del Toro2 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-0028 Resolution Changing the District 12 Polling Place

 

2023 Resolution Changing District 12 Polling Place.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Croatt moved, seconded by Alderperson Hartzheim, that the 

Polling Place Resolution be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the 

following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-0043 * Critical Timing* 2023 Sole Source Purchase Request - Downtown 

Streetscape Elements  

 

2023 Sole Source Purchase Request.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Firkus moved, seconded by Alderperson Fenton, that the Sole 

Source Purchase be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Page 3City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22183
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=46af8025-639e-4cab-8595-13960bd8f8ef.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=429edf74-744d-43cd-8340-10f763f640e4.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22204
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3ab562da-f999-45f7-b009-8b4cdef2f0c8.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22219
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e9736d8c-db54-4037-8990-95956b8881e3.pdf


January 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-0027 Request to award contract Unit O-23 Sanitary and Storm Sewer CIPP Lining 

to Visu-Sewer, Inc. in the amount of $626,000 with a 9.5% contingency of 

$59,933 for a project total not to exceed $685,933.

Award of Contract Unit O-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Firkus moved, seconded by Alderperson Del Toro, that the 

awarding of Contract O-23 be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the 

following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

COMMITTEE REPORTSL.

This  was approved

Balance of the action items on the agenda.

Alderperson Croatt moved, Alderperson Fenton seconded, to approve the 

balance of the agenda.  The motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE1.

Page 4City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22203
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=56b4bdcc-0311-497a-8c97-63361033ab82.pdf


January 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0015 2023 Sole Source Purchase Request

 

2023 Sole Source Purchase Request.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0018 M-23-2023 Materials Testing Contract

 

M-23 Contract Award Memo.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE2.

23-0013 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License application for Appleton 

Souvenir & Cigar Co, Norman J Kopesky III, Agent, located at 415 W 

College Ave, contingent upon approval from all departments.

Appleton Souvenir & Cigar.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0020 Cigarette License application for Appleton Souvenir & Cigar Co, Norman 

J Kopecky III, Applicant, located at 415 W College Ave.

Appleton Souvenir & Cigar S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0021 Cigarette License application for SK Gas Mart LLC d/b/a Badger Mobil, 

Satbir Singh, Applicant, located at 1201 N Badger Ave

Badger Mobil S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION3.

22-1522 Request to approve Rezoning #5-22 for the subject parcel located at 

1208 N. Oneida Street (Tax Id #31-6-0329-00), including the adjacent 

one-half (1/2) right-of-way of N. Oneida Street, as shown on the attached 

maps, from C-2 General Commercial District to R-2 Two-Family District

StaffReport_1208NOneidaSt_Rezoning_For 12-14-22.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 5City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22191
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4d566ec8-8efb-4eda-9254-d951123ec91f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22194
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a845e7ba-63ca-439d-83c8-248c498dfae6.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22189
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3b9a3d40-57dd-4723-ba7d-0d042aaefba7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22196
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e2e1bbd4-33ca-4ede-9b25-fa51bbfee567.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22197
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bcc747fd-8ae0-4587-aba5-86e64b3ad60e.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22071
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e6c055c5-aa98-478b-9f65-df9492da7242.pdf


January 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

22-1526 Request to approve Zoning Ordinance Text and Map Amendments to 

Article X Floodplain Zoning of Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code relating 

to Section 23-205(b)(2) General provisions; Official maps and revisions; 

Official maps based on other studies related to LOMR - Case 

#21-05-2374P, as identified in the attached staff report

StaffReport_AmendFloodplainOrd_NorthEdgewoodEst_LOMR_For12-1

4-22.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE4.

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE5.

MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE6.

23-0006 Request to amend the Development Agreement (Phase II) with Merge 

LLC extending the purchase date from February 16, 2023 to September 

29, 2023 for a mixed-use development located on the southeast corner of 

W. Washington Street and N. Appleton Street (Tax Id #31-2-0272-00) in 

Tax Increment Financing District No. 11

Merge Ph II DA 1st Amendment Memo to CEDC 1-11-23.pdf

Request from Merge LLC to Amend Dev Agrm.pdf

Merge Ph II Recorded Dev Agrm.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE7.

23-0003 Award sole source purchase of Goulds axial flow pump from Crane 

Engineering in the amount of $133,876.

 

Utilities Committee Blended Sludge Pump 12-29-22.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0032 Award axial flow sludge blending pump impeller repair contract to August 

Winter and Sons in the amount of $23,000 with a 15% contingency of 

$3,450 for a total not to exceed $26,450.

 

230106_ Blended Sludge Pump Repair Contract Award Memo.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 6City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22075
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6249eff1-704c-4bed-9b77-2ab55cfdf894.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22182
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=92f42042-914e-4e8e-a4fb-9c15f988c07d.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=58b1e8fd-2433-4857-9a7d-75b874fb147c.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5c99ed09-307c-4cf3-8aaf-68a051e0deac.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22179
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bf4ac65a-1bda-43e0-853f-14b3443faaab.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22208
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=76972cd6-8135-489a-a239-ad7de0f9effe.pdf


January 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE
8.

MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION9.

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH10.

CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMSM.

ITEMS HELDN.

ORDINANCESO.

23-0042 Ordinances #1-23 & #2-23

 

Ordinances to Council 1-18-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Ordinances be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
P.

RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION
Q.

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSR.

ADJOURNS.

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Schultz, that the 

meeting be adjourned at 8:40 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Page 7City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22218
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=55fb134c-03bd-4630-9b91-3cc69353e3cc.pdf


January 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 8City of Appleton













NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  
 

OF THE 
 

APPLETON COMMON COUNCIL 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN of a Public Hearing to be held before the Appleton Common Council in 
Common Council Chambers, 6th Floor, City Hall, 100 North Appleton Street, on Wednesday, February 1, 
2023, at 7:00 P.M., or as soon thereafter as can be heard, for the purpose of considering the following text 
amendments to the Subdivision Ordinance, Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code: 
 

The City of Appleton is considering amendments to Sec. 17-3 General Provisions, Sec. 17-4 
Preplatting Requirements, Sec. 17-29 Dedication of Public Sites and Open Spaces, Sec. 17-30 
Identification of Dedicated Areas, Sec. 17-31 Reservation of Road Widths, Sec. 17-32 
Reservation of Public Sites, Sec. 17-33 Private Reservations, Sec. 17-34 Right of Refusal, and 
Sec. 17-35 Accomplishment of Dedication of Chapter 17 Subdivision Ordinance of the 
Municipal Code.  

 
A copy of the proposed text amendments to Chapter 17 Subdivision Ordinance of the Municipal Code relating 
to the above-referenced Subdivision Ordinance sections is available in the Appleton Community and 
Economic Development Department or the Office of the City Clerk from 8:00 a.m. until 4:30 p.m., Monday 
through Friday. 
 
All persons interested are invited to attend this meeting and will be given an opportunity to be heard.  
Feedback can also be shared with Common Council members via written letter, email, or phone call. Any 
questions regarding the proposed text amendments to Chapter 17 Subdivision Ordinance of the Municipal 
Code should be directed to David Kress, Principal Planner, in the Community and Economic Development 
Department at 920-832-6428 or by email at david.kress@appleton.org. 
 
       KAMI LYNCH 
       CITY CLERK 
 

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and if feasible. 
 

mailto:david.kress@appleton.org


 
NOTICE OF PROPOSED STREET VACATION 

 
(Pursuant to Section 66.1003, Wisconsin Statutes-2013-2014) 

 
Notice is hereby given that a written resolution has been filed with the Common Council of the City of Appleton 

for the discontinuance of: 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF AREA TO BE VACATED: 
A part of Oneida Street abutting the West side of Block Sixty-Eight (68) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward 
Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) 
of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, 
Wisconsin, containing 1,361 square feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Oneida Street, said point also being the Southwest corner of 
Block 68 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 
Thence South 89°55'06" West 5.70 feet along the Westerly extension of the North line of Pacific Street; 
Thence Northwesterly 4.73 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 4.00 feet and the chord of which 
bears North 56°12'19" West 4.46 feet; 
Thence Northwesterly 27.81 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 108.00 feet and the chord of which 
bears North 29°42'19" West 27.73 feet; 
Thence Northerly 12.65 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 11.00 feet and the chord of which 
bears North 04°08'10" West 11.96 feet; 
Thence Northerly 70.91 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 228.50 feet and the chord of which 
bears North 19°55'06" East 70.63 feet to the East line of Oneida Street; 
Thence South 00°01'51" West 104.90 feet along the East line of Oneida Street and being coincident with the West line of 
said Block 68 to the point of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street abutting the North side of Block Fifty-Nine (59) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward 
Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) 
of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, 
Wisconsin, containing 1,832 square feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Southwest corner of Pacific Street and Oneida Street, said point also being the Northeast corner of 
Block 59 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 
Thence South 89°55'06" West 111.86 feet along the South line of Pacific Street and being coincident with the North line 
of said Block 59; 
Thence Easterly 102.16 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 182.00 feet and the chord of which bears 
North 69°14'08" East 100.82 feet; 
Thence Southeasterly 24.35 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 11.00 feet and the chord of which 
bears South 63°25'02" East 19.68 feet to the Northerly extension of the West line of Oneida Street; 
Thence South 00°00'36" West 26.78 feet coincident with the Northerly extension of the West line of Oneida Street to the 
point of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, also being formerly known as a part of Lot Twelve (12), Thirteen (13) and 
Fourteen (14) of Block Fifty-Nine (59) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded 
Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), 
Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 445 square 
feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northwest corner of Block 59 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat); 
Thence South 00°02'57" East 115.69 feet coincident with the West line of said Block 59 to the point of beginning; 
Thence North 00°02'57" West 0.33 feet coincident with the West line of said Block 59; 
Thence Northeasterly 117.59 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 90.00 feet and the chord of which 
bears North 37°22'50" East 109.40 feet to the existing Southeasterly line of Pacific Street per A.O.D. Document 
No.778217; 
Thence South 51°15'47" West 71.53 feet (recorded as North 50°27'24" East 71.53 feet) coincident with Southeast line of 
Pacific Street per A.O.D. Document No.778217; 
Thence South 14°01'58" West 43.81 feet (recorded as North 12°57'24" East 43.81 feet) coincident with Southeast line of 
Pacific Street and the East line of Appleton Street per A.O.D. Document No.779003 to the West line of Block 59 and the 
point of beginning. 



AND 
A part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street abutting the South side of Block Sixty-Seven (67) of the APPLETON PLAT 
(aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the 
Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of 
Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 3,843 square feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, said point also being the Southwest corner of 
Block 67 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 
Thence North 89°55'06" East 165.28 feet along the North line of Pacific Street and being coincident with the South line of 
said Block 67; 
Thence South 74°55'40" West 117.97 feet; 
Thence Southwesterly 57.49 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 150.00 feet and the chord of which 
bears South 63°56'53" West 57.14 feet to the Southerly extension of the West line of Block 67; 
Thence North 00°02'19" West 55.54 feet coincident with the Southerly extension of the West line of Block 67 to the point 
of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street and Oneida Street also being formerly known as a part of Lot Seven (7) and Lot Eight (8) of Block 
Sixty-Seven (67) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the 
City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 
21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 1,433 square feet of land and being 
further described by: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, said point also being the Southwest corner of 
Block 67 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat);  
Thence North 89°55'06" East 166.83 feet along the North line of Pacific Street and being coincident with the South line of 
said Block 67 to the Southwest corner of Lot 7 of said Block 67 and being the point of beginning; 
Thence North 51°30'19" East 128.76 feet (recorded as North 50°26'53" East 128.73 feet) to a point on the North line of 
said Lot 7 being 16.99 feet West of the Northeast corner thereof; 
Thence North 13°33'47" East 72.61 feet (recorded as North 14°40'01" East 72.61 feet) to a point on the West line of 
Oneida Street (as platted) said point being 150.56 feet (recorded as 150.56 feet) North of the Southeast corner of said 
Block 67; 
Thence Southwesterly 202.92 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 155.00 feet and the chord of 
which bears South 37°25'22" West 188.74 feet; 
Thence South 74°55'40" West 3.22 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
A map is available in the City Clerk’s office upon request. 
 
COMMON DESCRIPTION: 
Portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street, generally located north of Packard Street and south of 
Atlantic Street. 
 
ZONING DISTRICT BOUNDARIES: 
Per Section 23-39 of the Municipal Code, zoning district boundaries indicated as approximately following the 
centerlines of streets shall be construed to follow such centerlines.  In this case, the centerlines will change due to the 
proposed street vacation.  Therefore, it is the intent of the City of Appleton that existing zoning district boundaries 
located in the public right-of-way will be amended accordingly.  The public right-of-way at the intersection of Appleton 
Street and Pacific Street, from PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District to R-1C Central City Residential 
District.  The public right-of-way at the intersection of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, from R-1C Central City 
Residential District to PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District.  The public right-of-way at the intersection 
of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, from R-1C Central City Residential District to C-2 General Commercial District. 
 
Proposed changes to the zoning district boundaries would occur in the public right-of-way only.  Nearby privately-
owned parcels are not involved in the proposed zoning changes. 
 
A map is available in the City Clerk’s office upon request. 
 
Notice is further given that a hearing of said resolution will be held at a regular meeting of the Common Council to be 
held at 7:00 p.m. or as soon thereafter as can be heard, on Wednesday, February 1, 2023, in the Council Chambers at the 
City Hall in said City of Appleton. 
 



By Order of the Common Council. 
 
December 22, 2022 

KAMI LYNCH 
City Clerk 

RUN:  December 25, 2022 
 January 1, 2023 
 January 8, 2023 
 
REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES WILL BE MADE UPON 
REQUEST AND IF FEASIBLE.  



 

        FINAL RESOLUTION 
 

WHEREAS, the public interest requires that 
portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and 
Oneida Street, that have not previously been 
vacated, be vacated and discontinued; and 

 
WHEREAS, notice was given when and 

where the resolution would be acted on, as required 
by law; and 

 
WHEREAS, hearing was had on said 

Resolution on the 1st day of February, 2023, at City 
Hall, in and for the City of Appleton, Wisconsin. 

 
BE IT RESOLVED, that the Common Council 

of the City of Appleton, Wisconsin, hereby 
determines that the public interest requires that: 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
A part of Oneida Street abutting the West 
side of Block Sixty-Eight (68) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all 
according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in 
the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, 
Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, 
containing 1,361 square feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Oneida Street, said point 
also being the Southwest corner of Block 68 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second 
Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 
Thence South 89°55'06" West 5.70 feet along the Westerly extension of the North 
line of Pacific Street; 
Thence Northwesterly 4.73 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 
4.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 56°12'19" West 4.46 feet; 
Thence Northwesterly 27.81 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 
108.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 29°42'19" West 27.73 feet; 
Thence Northerly 12.65 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 
11.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 04°08'10" West 11.96 feet; 
Thence Northerly 70.91 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 
228.50 feet and the chord of which bears North 19°55'06" East 70.63 feet to the East 
line of Oneida Street; 
Thence South 00°01'51" West 104.90 feet along the East line of Oneida Street and 
being coincident with the West line of said Block 68 to the point of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street abutting the North side of Block Fifty-Nine (59) of the 
APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s 
Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the 
Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of 
Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 1,832 square feet of land and 
being further described by: 
Commencing at the Southwest corner of Pacific Street and Oneida Street, said point 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Record and return to: 
     City of Appleton | City Attorney’s Office 
     100 North Appleton Street 
     Appleton, WI    54911-4799 
 

Tax Key Nos.: 31-2-0748-00, 31-2-0604-00,  
31-2-0738-00, 31-2-0739-00, 31-2-0741-00 

  



also being the Northeast corner of Block 59 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second 
Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 
Thence South 89°55'06" West 111.86 feet along the South line of Pacific Street and 
being coincident with the North line of said Block 59; 
Thence Easterly 102.16 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 
182.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 69°14'08" East 100.82 feet; 
Thence Southeasterly 24.35 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius 
of 11.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 63°25'02" East 19.68 feet to the 
Northerly extension of the West line of Oneida Street; 
Thence South 00°00'36" West 26.78 feet coincident with the Northerly extension of 
the West line of Oneida Street to the point of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, also being formerly known as a part of 
Lot Twelve (12), Thirteen (13) and Fourteen (14) of Block Fifty-Nine (59) of the 
APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s 
Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the 
Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of 
Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 445 square feet of land and 
being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northwest corner of Block 59 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka 
Second Ward Plat); 
Thence South 00°02'57" East 115.69 feet coincident with the West line of said Block 
59 to the point of beginning; 
Thence North 00°02'57" West 0.33 feet coincident with the West line of said Block 
59; 
Thence Northeasterly 117.59 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius 
of 90.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 37°22'50" East 109.40 feet to the 
existing Southeasterly line of Pacific Street per A.O.D. Document No.778217; 
Thence South 51°15'47" West 71.53 feet (recorded as North 50°27'24" East 71.53 
feet) coincident with Southeast line of Pacific Street per A.O.D. Document 
No.778217; 
Thence South 14°01'58" West 43.81 feet (recorded as North 12°57'24" East 43.81 
feet) coincident with Southeast line of Pacific Street and the East line of Appleton 
Street per A.O.D. Document No.779003 to the West line of Block 59 and the point of 
beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street abutting the South side of Block Sixty-
Seven (67) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the 
recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast 
Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, 
Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 3,843 
square feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, said point 
also being the Southwest corner of Block 67 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second 
Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 
Thence North 89°55'06" East 165.28 feet along the North line of Pacific Street and 
being coincident with the South line of said Block 67; 
Thence South 74°55'40" West 117.97 feet; 
Thence Southwesterly 57.49 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius 
of 150.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 63°56'53" West 57.14 feet to the 
Southerly extension of the West line of Block 67; 
Thence North 00°02'19" West 55.54 feet coincident with the Southerly extension of 



the West line of Block 67 to the point of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street and Oneida Street also being formerly known as a part of Lot 
Seven (7) and Lot Eight (8) of Block Sixty-Seven (67) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka 
Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of 
Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter 
(NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, 
Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 1,433 square feet of land and being further 
described by: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, said point 
also being the Southwest corner of Block 67 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second 
Ward Plat);  
Thence North 89°55'06" East 166.83 feet along the North line of Pacific Street and 
being coincident with the South line of said Block 67 to the Southwest corner of Lot 7 
of said Block 67 and being the point of beginning; 
Thence North 51°30'19" East 128.76 feet (recorded as North 50°26'53" East 128.73 
feet) to a point on the North line of said Lot 7 being 16.99 feet West of the Northeast 
corner thereof; 
Thence North 13°33'47" East 72.61 feet (recorded as North 14°40'01" East 72.61 
feet) to a point on the West line of Oneida Street (as platted) said point being 150.56 
feet (recorded as 150.56 feet) North of the Southeast corner of said Block 67; 
Thence Southwesterly 202.92 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a 
radius of 155.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 37°25'22" West 188.74 
feet; 
Thence South 74°55'40" West 3.22 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
See also attached Exhibit “A” for illustration. 
 
EASEMENTS 
The City of Appleton their heirs, successors and or assigns (Grantee) hereby retain an 
easement for any and all existing utilities and also any future utilities deemed necessary 
or desirable by Grantee within the vacated right of way, including but not limited to, 
storm sewer, drainage, sanitary sewer, watermain, gas, electric, cable and fiber- optic 
within the entire length and width of the afore described right of way areas.   
It is further agreed that this easement shall be a permanent easement. 
It is further agreed that Grantee shall have the right to install, regrade, replace, relocate, 
operate, maintain, resize, and repair any and all of these utilities and their associated 
appurtenances.  It is further agreed that after installing, regrading, replacing, relocating, 
operating, maintaining, resizing, or repairing of these utilities and their associated 
appurtenances Grantee shall restore unimproved surfaces such as grass, gravel, and 
dirt on said property, as closely as possible, to the condition previously existing.  
Grantee shall not be required to restore or compensate for any improvements or 
improved surfaces such as, but not limited to, curb and gutter, hard pavements, trees, 
shrubs, and landscaping, disturbed as a result of the maintenance activities described 
herein.  Buildings or any other type of permanent structure shall not be placed over 
Grantees’ facilities or in, upon or over said easement area.  This easement includes the 
right to operate any and all equipment deemed necessary by Grantee to perform said 
activities. Grantee agrees that it shall give timely notice to the Grantor of routine 
maintenance work. 

 
 
 



OWNERSHIP DISTRIBUTION OF THE VACATED STREET AREA 
It is the intent of the City of Appleton that the existing common lot line between Lot 5 and 
6 of said Block 67 be extended in a Southerly direction to its intersection with the 
proposed Northwesterly line of Pacific Street.  The remaining areas of vacated street 
right of way are intended to accrue to the sole abutting landowner. 

 
ZONING DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
Per Section 23-39 of the Municipal Code, zoning district boundaries indicated as 
approximately following the centerlines of streets shall be construed to follow such 
centerlines.  In this case, the centerlines will change due to the proposed street vacation. 
 Therefore, it is the intent of the City of Appleton that existing zoning district boundaries 
located in the public right-of-way will be amended accordingly. 
 
The public right-of-way at the intersection of Appleton Street and Pacific Street, from 
PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District to R-1C Central City Residential 
District. 
 
The public right-of-way at the intersection of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, from R-1C 
Central City Residential District to PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District. 
 
The public right-of-way at the intersection of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, from R-1C 
Central City Residential District to C-2 General Commercial District. 
 
See also attached Exhibit “B” for illustration. 

 
COMMON DESCRIPTION: 
Portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street, generally located north of 
Packard Street and south of Atlantic Street 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Clerk of the City of Appleton be authorized and 

directed to give notice required by §66.1003 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that according to §66.1005, Wisconsin Statutes, upon vacation 

and discontinuance of said portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street, title to 
the above-described area shall belong to the adjoining property owners and shall acquire an 
ownership interest in the entire area being vacated (as deemed necessary). 

 
City of Appleton 

 

By: ____________________________ 
      Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor 

 By: ____________________________ 
      Kami Lynch, City Clerk 

Date: __________________________
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
  : ss. 
OUTAGAMIE COUNTY ) 
 
 The foregoing Agreement was acknowledged before me this _____ day of February, 
2023 by Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor and Kami Lynch, City Clerk. 
 
 
   __________________________________ 
   Jamie L. Griesbach 
   Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
   My commission expires 11/11/2025 
 
This instrument was drafted by:  
City Attorney Christopher R. Behrens 
City Law A22‐0900 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



N
89°55'06"E                                 166.83'

N51°30'19"E            128.76'

(N50°26'53"E   128.73')
PH

ILLIP & C
LAIR

E
R

EH
BER

G
ER

31-2-0739-00
114 W

. PAC
IFIC

 STR
EET

LO
T 6, BLK.67, 2N

D
 W

AR
D

PLAT

TIM
 & PAM

ELA M
O

R
AN

120 W
. PAC

IFIC
 STR

EET
31-2-0738-00
S.50', LO

T 5, BLK.67, 2N
D

 W
AR

D
 PLAT

M
IC

H
AEL & C

H
R

ISTIN
E M

O
R

AN
615 N

. O
N

EID
A STR

EET
31-2-0741-00
LO

T 7 AN
D

 8, BLK.67, 2N
D

W
AR

D
 PLAT

31-2-0741-00

APPLETO
N

 H
O

U
SIN

G
 AU

TH
O

R
ITY

525 N
. O

N
EID

A STR
EET

31-2-0604-00
PR

T., BLK.59, VAC
ATED

 ALLEY,
2N

D
 W

AR
D

 PLAT

N13°33'47"E  72.61'

(N14°40'01"E  72.61')

TR
EN

TIN
-LED

ER
ER

FU
N

ER
AL H

O
M

E
606 N

. O
N

EID
A STR

EET
LO

T 3, W
 12  LO

T 2, BLK.68,
2N

D
 W

AR
D

 PLAT
31-2-0748-00

C
2 C

4

C
6

C
5

C
8

S00°01'51"W           104.90'

60' R/W

S89°55'06"W
5.70'

APPLETONSTREET

PAC
IFIC

                 STR
EET

S74°55'40"W
                     117.97'

S74°55'40"W
                     110.26'

(N
73°52'17"E   110.26')

S51°15'47"W
     71.53'

(N50°27'24"E   71.53')

S89°55'06"W
           111.86'

S00°00'36"W
26.78'

60'

60'

VARIABLE

W
IDTH

R/W

VARIABLE
WIDTHR/W

ONEIDA
STREET

PAC
IFIC

STR
EET

150.56' (150.56')

117.72' (117.84')

59.94' (60.00')

106.89' (107')N
89°55'06"E                165.28' S74°55'40"W

3.22'

C
9

A

VACATEDALLEY

LO
T 1, BLK. 59

LO
T 15, BLK. 59

LO
T 14, BLK. 59

LO
T 3, BLK. 68

LO
T 4, BLK. 68

16.99'
(16.99')

60' R
/W

PAC
IFIC

STR
EET

60' R
/W

VAC
ATIO

N
  AR

EA

VAC
ATIO

N
AR

EA

VAC
ATIO

N
AR

EA

N00°02'19"W  55.54'

S14°01'58"W 43.81'

(N12°57'24"E   43.81')

VAC
ATIO

N
  AR

EA

C
7

115.69' (115.69')

S00°02'57E (S01°07'43"E)

LO
T 13, BLK. 59

LO
T 12, BLK. 59

60'

N
00°02'57"W

0.33'

C
3

C
1

40'
0'

80'

BEAR
IN

G
S AR

E R
EFER

EN
C

ED
 TO

TH
E N

O
R

TH
 LIN

E O
F PAC

IFIC
STR

EET(AS PLATTED
), ASSIG

N
ED

N
89°55'06E

C
IT

Y
 O

F A
PPL

E
T

O
N

D
EPT. O

F PU
B

LIC
 W

O
R

K
S

EN
G

IN
EER

IN
G

 D
IV

ISIO
N

100 N
O

R
TH

 A
PPLETO

N
 STR

EET
A

PPLETO
N

, W
I 54911

920-832-6474
D

R
A

FTED
 B

Y
: T. K

R
O

M
M

H
:\A

cad\V
ac and D

ed\2022\Pacific Street_1101_2022

SC
ALE IN

 FEET

N

S

W
E

EXH
IBIT  "A"

A part of Appleton Street, Pacific Street and O
neida Street lying betw

een Block Fifty-N
ine (59), Sixty-Seven (67) and

Sixty-eight (68), of the APPLETO
N

 PLAT (aka Second W
ard Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor's M

ap of the City of
Appleton, being located in the Southeast 1

4  of the N
orthw

est 1
4   of Section 26, Tow

nship 21 N
orth, Range 17 East, City of

Appleton, O
utagam

ie County, W
isconsin.

And
a portion of previously acquired for right of w

ay, being a part of Lot Seven (7) and Eight (8) of Block Sixty-Seven (67) and a
part of Lot Tw

elve (12), Thirteen (13) and Fourteen (14) of Block Fifty-N
ine (59), of the APPLETO

N
 PLAT (aka Second W

ard
Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor's M

ap of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast 1
4  of the

N
orthw

est 1
4   of Section 26, Tow

nship 21 N
orth, Range 17 East, City of Appleton,

O
utagam

ie County, W
isconsin.

N
O

TES
A = EXISTIN

G
 LO

T LIN
E SH

ALL BE EXTEN
D

ED
 TO

ITS IN
TER

SEC
TIO

N
 W

ITH
 TH

E PR
O

PO
SED

 N
W

'LY
LIN

E O
F PAC

IFIC
 STR

EET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE DATA TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RADIUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text
LCB

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.46'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N56°12'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2

AutoCAD SHX Text
108.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.81'

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N29°42'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C3

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
12.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N04°08'10"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C4

AutoCAD SHX Text
228.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N19°55'06"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C5

AutoCAD SHX Text
182.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100.82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N69°14'08"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C6

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
24.35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.68'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S63°25'02"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C7

AutoCAD SHX Text
90.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
117.59'

AutoCAD SHX Text
109.40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N37°22'50"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C8

AutoCAD SHX Text
150.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S63°56'53'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C9

AutoCAD SHX Text
155.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
202.92'

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.74'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S37°25'22"W



APPROX. NEW CENTERLINE 

 
FROM PD/R-3 TO R-1C 

 
FROM R-1C TO PD/R-3 

 
FROM R-1C TO C-2 

ZONING CHANGES 

EXHIBIT “B” 





 

 

 

 







DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911 
Phone (920) 832-6474 

Fax (920) 832-6489 
 

TO:   Municipal Services Committee  
 
FROM:  Danielle Block, P.E., Director of Public Works  

Kurt W. Craanen, Inspections Supervisor 
    
SUBJECT:   Updates to Section 19-91 of the Municipal Code 
 
DATE:  January 23, 2023 
▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬ 
 

Section 19-91 of the Municipal Code, regulates front yard parking for vehicles on residential properties. 
This section prohibits parking on an unpaved surface in the front and side yards. This section also 
includes language requiring a permit for driveway extensions and maximum length of the extension.  
 
Attached are recommended changes to Section 19-91 of the Municipal Code. These recommendations do 
not change standards or create new regulations. Rather, the recommended changes clarify language and 
remove unenforceable requirements. The changes include: 
 

• Gravel Driveways. Portions of Section 19-91(c) that refer to paving gravel driveways within six 
(6) months of sale have not been enforceable since Wisconsin Act 55 was signed into law by 
Governor Walker on July 12, 2015. This act prohibits time of sale requirements from 
municipalities.  

• Flaring Driveway Extensions. Permits issued for driveway extensions have typically included 
requirements to flare pavement at a 45 degree angle to prevent cars from driving over the city 
terrace. However, there was no code language to support this requirement. Adding this language 
provides clarification and solidifies the city’s ability to enforce this requirement. 

• Corner Lots. Language and diagrams are included in the recommended changes for clarification 
of driveway extensions on corner lots. For example, staff has interpreted the existing language to 
allow a four (4) foot extension on the corner side of the front yard. 
 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the attached language of Section 19-91 of the 
Municipal Code relating to front yard parking and driveway extensions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Sec. 19-91. Parking in front and side yard in residential district; parking on terraces. 

 

 (a) Purpose.  The purpose of this section is to clearly define acceptable areas for parking vehicles 
within the front yard or side yard, as defined in Chapter 23, of private properties in order to address off-
street parking issues and maintain the acceptable appearance of City neighborhoods. 
 
 (b) Residential driveway.  Residential driveway means that area leading directly from the street to a 
garage, carport, or rear yard parking area. 
 
 (c) Front yard.  No person shall park or store any motor vehicle, or recreational vehicle of 26 feet or 
less, i.e., a “camping trailer”, “fifth-wheel trailer”, “motor home” or “recreational vehicle” as those terms 
are defined by §340.01, Stats., as well as boat trailers and boats, utilities trailers, trailered snowmobiles, 
trailered jet-ski(s) or fishing shanties in the front yard of any residential district except upon a residential 
driveway and shall be subject to temporary recreational vehicle parking restrictions set forth in §19-92.  No 
recreational vehicle or boat greater than 26 feet in length may be parked or stored in the front yard of any 
residential district.  Any vehicle parked in the front yard, shall be parked within the driveway area in such 
a manner as to maintain all wheels on the driveway surface, and shall neither obstruct the sidewalk nor 
extend onto the driveway apron.  All driveways on one- (1-) and two- (2-) family residential properties, as 
well as those properties with three (3) dwelling units, shall be paved with concrete, asphalt, brick or a 
similar hard surface within one (1) year of construction.  Carriage style driveways with a minimum of 2-
foot wide strips paved with concrete, asphalt or brick and maintained grass medians in accordance with 
Sec. 12-59(c)(3) are permitted.  Those existing driveways on one- (1-) and two- (2-) family properties, as 
well as those properties with three (3) dwelling units, that are not currently paved as described for new 
driveways shall be so paved within one (1) year of notice of non-compliance. 
(Ord 84-15, §1, 10-27-15) 
 
 (d) Side yard.  No person shall park or store any motor vehicle, “camping trailer”, “fifth-wheel trailer”, 
“motor home” or “recreational vehicle” as those terms are defined by §340.01, Stats., as well as boat trailers 
and trailered boats, pick-up camper tops, utilities trailers, trailered snowmobiles, trailered jet-ski(s) or 
fishing shanties in the side yard of any residential district unless the side yard parking area is no greater 
than twelve (12) feet wide and extends no farther than the rear plane of the principal structure on the 
property.  Side yard parking areas are required to be it  it is parked on a hard surfaced and subject to the 
requirements of this section, including the requirement for a permit for the installation of said hard surface  
 
 (e) Permits.  The Inspections Supervisor shall issue a driveway extension permit or a side yard parking 
pad permit upon the filing of a proper application, which shall be on a form furnished by the Director and 
shall describe the nature of the work, material to be used, measurements, plans and/or specifications of the 
proposed extension as well as such other information as may be required for inspection.  Permits shall be 
issued prior to the start of the work.  Fees for this permit shall be kept on file with the City Clerk.  

 
 (f) Extensions to the driveway surface, beyond the area previously described in section (d), are 
permissible provided all of the following apply: 
 
  (1) The property owner has obtained appropriate driveway extension permit; and, 
 
  (2) Both the extension and driveway are paved as provided in sec. (d) above; and, 
 
  (3) The extension is no greater than twelve (12) feet wide on the side nearest the side lot line (See 



Diagram 2) and no greater that four (4) feet wide in front yard closest to the dwelling , (see 
Diagram 1). Extensions to driveways on corner lots may extend no more than four (4) feet on 
both sides of the driveway, (See Diagram 3) and,  

 
 
 
 
 
 
                    Diagram 1                 Diagram 2         Diagram 3 

 
 
  (4) The paved area is no longer than the length of the driveway, extending from the edge of the 

City’s right-of-way to a carport, rear yard parking area or garage.  For the purpose of creating 
a parking pad, the paved area may extend along the side of the principal structure on the 
property and may extend to the rear plane of said structure; and, 

 
  (5)  Driveway extensions shall be flared at an angle from the sidewalk per Diagrams 1, 2 & 3 above: 
 
  (5) Whenever practicable, the extension shall be located on the side of the driveway such that it 

extends toward the nearest side lot line.  When such a configuration is not possible, the property 
owner may install an extension no greater than four (4) feet into the greater front yard.  Any 
extension into the greater front yard of the property that is more than four (4) feet wide shall 
require approval from the Municipal Services Committee. 

 
  (6) This section shall not apply toward paved circular driveways. 

 
  (7) The paved area shall meet any other requirements of the Municipal Code including, but not 

limited to, zoning requirements and the Driveway Installation Policy. 
 
 (g) Appeals to the requirements of this section shall be filed with the Inspections Supervisor and heard 
by the Municipal Services Committee.  In hearing and deciding appeals, the Committee shall have the 
power to grant relief from the terms of this section only where there are unusual and practical difficulties 
or undue hardships due to an irregular shape of the lot, topographical, or other conditions present, as 
contrasted with merely granting an advantage or convenience.  Decisions of the Committee shall be 
consistent with the purpose and intent of this section. 
 



 (h) Relief granted by the Municipal Services Committee, pursuant to (g) above, shall run with the land. 
(Ord 85-15, §1, 10-27-15) 
 
 (i) Penalty. 
   
  (1) First offense parking forfeiture.  Any person to whom a ticket has been issued for a violation 

of this section shall incur a forfeiture of forty-five dollars ($45.00), which may be satisfied by 
paying twenty dollars ($20.00) within fifteen (15) days of the date of the ticket.  The procedures 
in Sec. 19-90(i), (k), and (l) apply to first offenses of this section. 

 
  (2) Second and subsequent violations of this section.  Any person who violates any provision of 

this section more than one time in a twelve (12) month period shall be subject to a penalty as 
provided in Sec. 1-16 of the Municipal Code. 

 

 











 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

January 18, 2023 

To: Safety & Licensing Commi ee and Common Council 

From: Jeremy Hansen, Fire Chief 

Cc: Doug Vrechek, Ba alion Chief of Resource Development & Special Opera ons 

Re: Request to Purchase Red Wave Threat ID Spectrometer 

The Appleton Fire Department Hazardous Materials Team operates jointly with Green Bay and Oshkosh Fire Departments as the 
Northeast Regional Hazardous Material Response Team.  Over the past 20 years, the Appleton Fire Department has a ained 
specialized equipment and training to provide enhanced capability in classifying and iden fying unknown chemicals.  This capability 
allows for a rapid threat assessment and a prudent ac on plan to be developed as well as pinpoin ng the source of spills.  This 
allows for the responsible party to be held accountable for any financial and environmental impacts. 
 
Some poten al examples include: 

 Postal operations resume after a suspicious white powder was identified. 
 A fuel spill located in the Fox River was accurately traced back to a leaking underground storage tank. 
 An unknown substance found in a roadway gutter accurately identified as a paint product and traced back to its source. 
 Gasoline used in an arson fire was accurately identified and matched with gasoline in a suspect’s gas can, adding essential physical 

evidence in an arrest. 
These are just a few examples of the capabili es that Appleton Fire Department Hazardous Materials Team has been able to provide 
with the use of FTIR spectroscopy.   
 
Our current technology is over fi een years old, is no longer supported by the manufacturer, and needs replacement.  Addi onally, 
the Hazardous Materials Team has not had the capability to use this type of technology on unknown gases and vapors for over 
fi een years.  A spectrometer has been located that provides the ability to accurately iden fy over 22,000 powders and liquids and 
5,500 gases and vapors.  This device will allow our team to have up-to-date capabili es and ensure we can con nue to provide 
efficient and effec ve response for the region. 
 
The department sought quotes for this spectrometer as follows: 
 

Vendor Item Cost 
All Safe Industries Red Wave Threat ID Full Spectrum FTIR Spectrometer $75,172.95 
FarrWest Red Wave Threat ID Full Spectrum FTIR Spectrometer $74,850.00 
Red Wave Technology Red Wave Threat ID Full Spectrum FTIR Spectrometer $72,190.50 

 
Based on the submi als, the Appleton Fire Department requests to purchase the RedWave Threat ID Full Spectrum FTIR 
Spectrometer from Red Wave Technology for $72,190.50.   
 
If you have any ques ons or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact me at (920) 832-5810. Thank you for your considera on. 

View our current job openings at governmentjobs.com/careers/appletonwi 

CITY OF APPLETON 

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
(920) 832-5810 (920) 832-5830 

700 N. Drew Street 
Appleton, WI 54911 

jeremy.hansen@appleton.org 

















Page | 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE  _________________________________________  _ 

At the December 14, 2022 Plan Commission meeting, staff presented the proposed Subdivision Ordinance 

text amendments to the Commission for review and discussion.  At the conclusion of the presentation, the 

Plan Commission directed staff to schedule an Informal Public Hearing at the January 11, 2023 Plan 

Commission meeting. 

 

The Subdivision Ordinance (Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code) was last amended in 2010.  Staff from 

multiple City departments have been working collaboratively to review and update various sections 

throughout this chapter.  This will be an ongoing effort, and the information below/attached represents the 

first bundle of proposed text amendments.  The primary objectives for these proposed amendments are 

listed below. 

 

• Incorporate recommendations from the “Fee In Lieu of Land Dedication and Public Facility Needs 

Assessment” completed by Baker Tilly. 

The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department contracted with Baker Tilly to 

prepare this report, which serves as the basis for the land dedication (square feet per dwelling 

unit) and fee in lieu of dedication (dollars per dwelling unit) numbers included in the proposed 

text amendments.  This item was approved by Common Council on December 7, 2022. 
 

• Simplify and clarify expectations for the land dedication process. 
 

• Include trails in the dedication process and aid in the implementation of the Trails Master Plan. 
 

• Comply with applicable requirements of 2017 Wisconsin Act 243, particularly Section 236.45(6) 

of the Wisconsin State Statutes. 

 

In addition to the objectives outlined above, Community and Economic Development Department staff 

took into account recommendations from the City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030.  Listed 

below are related excerpts. 

 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Informal Public Hearing Date:  January 11, 2023 

 

Common Council Public Hearing Date:  February 1, 2023 

 

Item:  Subdivision Ordinance Text Amendments – Chapter 17 of the 

Municipal Code 

Article I In General:  Section 17-3 

Article II Plats:  Section 17-4 

Article V Dedications and Reservations:  Sections 17-29, 17-30, 17-31, 17-

32, 17-33, 17-34, and 17-35 

 

Case Manager:  David Kress, Principal Planner 

     Community and  

     Economic 

     Development 



Page | 2 

 

OBJECTIVE 6.3 Transportation: 

Create an environment that is safe and conducive to walking and bicycling throughout the entire city. 

Policy 6.3.1  Continue to prioritize bicycle and pedestrian improvement projects that make 

destinations more accessible, including but not limited to greater connectivity between important 

destinations within the community, and to regional bicycle and pedestrian networks. 

Policy 6.3.7  Support implementation of the City’s Trail Master Plan in order to create a 

comprehensive network of well linked bike lanes and off-street trails. 

 

OBJECTIVE 9.6 Economic Development: 

Create a vibrant environment that is conducive to attracting and retaining talented people. 

Policy 9.6.1  Continue the City’s efforts to expand and improve its amenities such as trails, parks 

and recreation, the Fox Cities Performing Arts Center, the Appleton Public Library, Fox Cities 

Exhibition Center, sporting facilities, and other cultural or civic offerings. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.3 Land Use: 

Support future changes to zoning and other regulatory tools which are necessary to achieve the type of 

urban form and development reflective of smart growth principles, including support for “complete” 

neighborhoods (neighborhoods where residents can meet the majority of their daily needs on foot and by 

bicycle) throughout the City and in growth areas. 

Policy 10.3.5  Plan for park amenities in complete neighborhoods and integrate into existing 

neighborhoods. 

 

OBJECTIVE 18.2 Park and Recreation: 

Continue to work with land developers and municipalities to acquire new park land through dedication or 

other means, as new development occurs. 

Policy 18.2.1  Continue park land and trail dedication, or fee-in-lieu-of land dedication 

requirements for all new residential development.  Additional land should be required for new 

development in the north, far southeast, and southwest parts of Appleton and its future growth 

area. 

 

OBJECTIVE 18.3 Park and Recreation: 

Develop the City's park system as an interconnected network of sites linked by greenways and trails. 

Policy 18.3.2  Implement the recommendations contained within the 2016 Appleton Trails Master 

Plan. 

 

PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENTS_____________________________________________  _ 

Staff offers the following proposed text amendments.  The text recommended to be added is underlined.  

The text recommended for deletion is identified by strikethrough.  Staff commentary is identified in blue 

italics to provide insight regarding that specific amendment/change. 

 
Sec. 17-3. General provisions. 

 

 (d) Dedication and reservation of lands.  Streets, Highways, Trails, Parks, Drainageways, Stormwater Facilities, and 

Floodplain.  Whenever a tract of land to be divided or developed within the jurisdiction of this ordinance encompasses all or 

any part of a street, highway, trail, park, drainageway, stormwater facility, floodplain, or other public way which has been 



Page | 3 

 

designated on the a duly adopted municipal or regional official map, comprehensive plan, or other plan officially adopted by is 

in any way determined to be such by the Plan Commission or Common Council, said public way shall be dedicated or reserved 

by the owner in the locations and dimensions indicated on said plan or component and as set forth in this ordinance. 

 

 

Sec. 17-4.  Preplatting requirements. 

 

 (a) Preplatting conference.  Prior to submitting an application for the approval of a Preliminary Plat within the corporate 

limits, the subdivider shall schedule a preplattting conference with the City Engineer or his or her their designee.  The purpose 

of the preplatting conference is to provide an opportunity for communication between the developer subdivider and City staff, 

regarding the purpose and objectives of these regulations, the Official Map, cComprehensive pPlan, Comprehensive Outdoor 

Recreation Plan, Trails Master Plan, zoning regulations, erosion control and stormwater management practices, neighborhood 

plans, and duly adopted plan implementation devices of the City, and to otherwise assist the subdivider in planning the 

development.  The subdivider will receive information regarding required procedures. 

 

(1) The City staff involved in the preplatting conference shall include, but not be limited to, representatives from the 

Department of Public Works, Community and Economic Development Department, Parks, Recreation and 
Facilities Management Department, and Fire Department. 

 

 (b) Required information.  The following information shall be submitted to the City Engineer or his or her their designee 

prior to the preplatting conference: 

 

 (1) The scaled sketch plan shall show: 

 

   a. The title, scale, north point, and date; 

 

   b. The boundaries of the property to be subdivided; 

 
   c. Natural characteristics such as drainage, wetlands, steep slopes, hills, ridges, floodplains, environmentally 

sensitive lands, and wooded areas; 

 

   d. Development characteristics such as surrounding streets, existing structures, and available utilities; 

 

   e. The proposed layout of streets, blocks, and lots; 

 

   f. The proposed location of business, parkland, trails, and other nonresidential areas; 

 

   g. Existing easements and covenants affecting the property; and 

 

   h. Where site conditions permit, any tract subdivided into parcels containing one (1) or more acres shall be 
arranged to allow future resubdivision of any parcels into smaller lots. 

 

  (2) The scaled location sketch shall show the relationship of the proposed subdivision to: 

 

   a. Traffic arterials; 

 

   b. Schools, parks, playgrounds, trails, and other community facilities; 

 

   c. Churches and retail facilities; 

 

   d. Public transportation; 
 

   e. Local zoning districts; and 

 

   f. Existing plats. 

(Code 1965, §21.16, Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 



Page | 4 

 

 

  (3) The subdivider shall indicate how they propose to accommodate parkland and/or trail needs in a manner that is 

consistent with §17-29. 

 

Comments:  Listed the City departments to be involved in preliminary platting discussions, as noted above.  

Clarified that park/trail needs are items to be evaluated during the pre-submittal process. 
 

 

Sec. 17-29.  Dedication of public parks and other public sites and open spaces. 

 

 (a) Purpose.  In order The requirements of this section are established to ensure that adequate parks, open spaces, and 

sites for other public uses may be are properly located and preserved as the community develops.  , and in order This section 
has also been established to ensure that the cost of providing park and recreation sites and facilities necessary to serve the 

additional families people brought into the community by subdivision development may be most equitably apportioned on the 

basis of the additional need created by the individual subdivision or minor land division development.  , the following 

provisions are established: The requirements shall apply to all lands proposed for all residential development. 

 

 (b) Applicability.  Any subdivision or minor land division (certified survey map) approval which enables the creation of 

additional dwelling units, and that has not already been subject to the requirements of this section, shall require compliance 

with the parkland and/or trail dedication and fee in lieu of dedication requirements included in this section. 

 

 (c) Exception.  Reconfiguration of existing lots and redevelopment which does not create new, additional lots shall not be 

subject to the provisions of this section.  Zoning districts not listed in the tables under §17-29(e)(1) and §17-29(f)(1) are 
exempt from the provisions of this section. 

 

 (d) Conformance with adopted ordinances and planning documents.  The location, size, standards, and 

recommendations related to parkland and/or trail dedication and fee in lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication shall be 

consistent with the following adopted city documents: Official Map, Comprehensive Plan, Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation 

Plan, Trails Master Plan, and/or other document officially adopted by Common Council. 

 

Comments:  Created the paragraph above regarding consistency with municipal plans in order to comply with 
2017 Wisconsin Act 243, particularly Section 236.45(6) of the Wisconsin State Statutes. 
 

(a) Reservation of potential sites.  In the design of the subdivision or minor land division, consideration shall be given 

to the adequate provision of and correlation with such public sites or open areas.  Where it is determined by the Plan 

Commission that a portion of that subdivision or minor land division is required for such public sites or open spaces, the 

subdivider may be required to reserve such area for a period not to exceed three (3) years, after which the City shall either 

acquire the property or release the reservation. 

 

(b) (e) Dedication of sites Parkland and/or trail dedication.  Within the corporate limits of the City, the subdivider shall 

dedicate land to provide for park, trail, and/or recreation needs in accordance with the adopted ordinances and 
planning documents described in subsection (d) above. 

 

(1) Within the corporate limits of the City, the subdivider shall provide and dedicate to the public either a minimum 

of five (5) acres of land to provide for park and recreation needs of the community as required by the adopted 

comprehensive plan or as determined by the Plan Commission in conjunction with the subdivider and in  

Dedication area calculation.  The dedication to the public shall be a minimum of three (3) acres or an amount of 

land to be determined in accordance with the zoning classification intended for each lot in the subdivision as 

specified in the following table, whichever is greater.: 

 

 

Types of Dwelling Units 

 and Zones 

Percent Allocation 

of Total Gross 

Residential Acreage 

R-1A zone, one-family 5 
R-1B and R-1C zone, one-family 6 



Page | 5 

 

R-2 zone, two-family 8 

R-3 zone, apartment 12 

PD (Planned Development 

Overlay – Residential) 

12 

 

 

Zoning District 

Land Dedication 

(per dwelling unit) 

R-1A, R-1B, R-1C, and R-2 800 square feet 

R-3, PD, and TND 650 square feet 

 

Comments:  Changed the land dedication amount as shown above based on the “Public Facility Needs 
Assessment” completed by Baker Tilly and approved by Common Council on December 7, 2022.  The Baker Tilly 

report included irregular numbers (789.11 square feet for single-family and 667.26 square feet for multi-family), so 

the numbers above were rounded up and down, respectively.  Adjusted from a minimum of five acres to a minimum 

of three acres based on direction from the Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department.  Streamlined 
the table above to improve usability. 
 

(2) Dedication consultation and land evaluation.  The location, suitability, and dimensions of the land to be 

dedicated shall be determined in consultation between the subdivider and appropriate City departments (see §17-

4), prior to submission of the preliminary plat or certified survey map.  The land to be dedicated must be free of 

wetlands, floodplain, or other limitations that would prevent the land from being used for parkland purposes, 

unless this requirement is waived by the Director of Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management or their 

designee. 

 
a. Factors used in evaluating the adequacy of land to be dedicated shall include, but not be limited to, size, 

shape, topography, geography, tree cover, access, and location of people to be served. 

 

b. Stormwater ponds may be located within the land to be dedicated, but pond square footage shall not count 

toward the dedication requirement unless designed and constructed to serve as a park amenity, as determined 

by the Director of Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management or their designee. 

 

Comments:  Identified factors above to be considered when evaluating the feasibility of land for dedication, with 
the goal of having land dedicated that is usable for park development and programming purposes. 
 

(3) Reservation of additional land.  Where the adopted ordinances and planning documents described in §17-29(d) 

call for a larger amount of land than the subdivider is required to dedicate, the land needed beyond the minimum 

amount shall be reserved for subsequent purchase by the City.  Such acquisition must occur within three (3) years 

from the date of approval of the final plat or certified survey map, unless the timing or other details regarding the 

conveyance are modified by the development agreement.  If such acquisition does not occur within the specified 

time period, the City shall release the reservation. 

 

  (2) Where such dedication is not feasible or is not compatible with the comprehensive plan, the subdivider shall in 
lieu thereof pay to the City a fee according to the zoning classification intended for each lot in the subdivision as 

specified in the following table: 

 

Types of Dwelling Units 

 and Zones 

In Lieu of Payment 

(per unit) 

R-1A zone, one-family $300.00 

R-1B zone, one-family $300.00 

R-1C zone, one-family $300.00 

R-2 zone, two-family $200.00 

R-3 zone, apartment $150.00 

PD (Planned Development 

Overlay – Residential) 

$150.00 

 



Page | 6 

 

  (3) Such fees shall be held in a nonlapsing fund to be used exclusively for immediate or future site acquisition or 

capital improvement. 

 

(c) (f) Proportionate payment in lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication.  Where such dedication is not feasible or is 

not consistent compatible with the comprehensive plan adopted ordinances and planning documents described in 
subsection (d) above, the subdivider landowner shall, in lieu thereof, pay to the City a fee equivalent to the value of 

the required dedication.  Such fee should be distributed and paid as follows:  

 

(1) Fee amount.  In lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication, the landowner shall pay to the City a fee according to the 

zoning classification of each lot as specified in the following table: 

 

Zoning District 

  

In Lieu Payment 

(per dwelling unit) 

R-1A, R-1B, R-1C, and R-2 $1,100.00 

R-3, PD, and TND $900.00 

 

Comments:  Changed the fees as shown above based on the “Public Facility Needs Assessment” completed by 

Baker Tilly and approved by Common Council on December 7, 2022.  The Baker Tilly report included irregular 

numbers ($1,097.29 for single-family and $927.83 for multi-family), so the numbers above were rounded up and 

down, respectively.  Repositioned and streamlined the table above to improve usability. 
 

(1) No payment shall be required for a lot created by the subdivision of land under this ordinance on which a 

residential structure already exists, or which is a residential parcel in excess of one hundred twenty (120) acres 

and not intended for immediate sale or other conveyance. 

 

(2) (2) Fee collection.  The required payment shall be made before the certification of approval may be affixed to 

the Final Plat by the landowner upon the issuance of a building permit for individual lots. 

 

Comments:  Revised the paragraph above regarding the timing for fee payment in order to comply with 2017 
Wisconsin Act 243, particularly Section 236.45(6) of the Wisconsin State Statutes. 
 

(3) Fee deposit.  Such fees shall be deposited and held in a nonlapsing fund to be used exclusively for immediate or 

future site acquisition or capital improvement. 

 

(3) (4) Further division of land.  After the Final Plat has been recorded, no If a lot or parcel may be is further 

divided, by replat, or conveyance as defined in W.S.A. §706.01(3), and no building permit may be issued, unless: 

payment of the fee as specified in this section must be made, upon issuance of a building permit, for each 

additional undeveloped lot or parcel created by the land division. 
 

   a. Such further division has been approved by the Plan Commission as being in accordance with the purpose of 

this ordinance and with the purposes of W.S.A. Chapter 236; 

 

   b. Payment of the fee as specified in §17-28(3) shall be made for each additional lot or parcel created by the 

division.; and 

 

   c. The proportionate payment in lieu of dedication as set forth in this section shall be paid for all certified 

survey maps, and the Register of Deeds of the county in which the land is located shall not accept a certified 

survey map for record unless the map has been approved by the Common Council. 

 
 (g) Provision of land for trails.  The following requirements are included in this chapter to recognize the importance of 

trails within and between developments.  Trails provide access to parks, open spaces, and other community destinations. 

 

(1) Within the corporate limits of the City, the subdivider shall provide land for trail needs in accordance with the 

adopted ordinances and planning documents described in subsection (d) above.  The location, suitability, and 

dimensions shall be determined in consultation between the subdivider and appropriate City departments (see 



Page | 7 

 

§17-4), prior to submission of the preliminary plat or certified survey map.  The following factors and criteria 

shall be considered: 

 

a. A subdivision and/or minor land division adjacent to an existing trail shall provide connection(s) to said trail. 

 
b. A subdivision and/or minor land division in an area identified with a proposed trail, per the Trails Master 

Plan, shall accommodate future trail placement using outlot(s) dedicated to the public and/or widened street 

right-of-way.  In limited cases, the use of easements may also be considered. 

 

c. Outlots dedicated to the public for trail purposes shall be exempt from any dimensional standards on lot 

width and lot area found in Chapter 23, Zoning of the Municipal Code and from lot design standards found in 

§17-26.  These outlots must be noted as such on the Final Plat or Certified Survey Map. 

 

d. Exact trail placement and configuration is adaptable, based on site features at the time of subdividing.  The 

location and dimensions of land needed for a trail shall reasonably accommodate development of the 

property.  To allow for trail pavement, clearances, and other amenities, a corridor width of twenty (20) feet 

will be considered typical. 
 

e. Unless otherwise agreed upon, the City is responsible for design, construction, and maintenance of trails after 

the land is dedicated or transferred to the City. 

 

f. Rules governing trail use are found in Chapter 13, Parks and Recreation of the Municipal Code. 

 

(2) The area of the outlot(s) and/or widened street right-of-way dedicated for trail purposes shall be counted toward 

the parkland dedication requirement as specified in §17-29(e). 

 

Comments:  Created the section above to include trails in the dedication process and aid in the implementation of 

the Trails Master Plan. 
 

 (d) (h) Determination of feasibility.  The determination as to the feasibility of dedication shall be made by the Common 

Council City Plan Commission.  When dedication to the public is proposed for a certified survey map, the acceptance of the 

dedication must be approved by Common Council before administrative approval of the certified survey map. 
(Code 1965, §21.13(1)(c); Ord 55-94, §1, 4-20-94; Ord 67-94, §1, 6-18-94, Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-

06; Ord 44-09, §1, 3-10-09) 

 
 

Sec. 17-30.  Identification of dedicated areas. 

 

 All areas to be dedicated to the public for except streets shall be clearly identified as such on the Final Plat or Certified 

Survey Map.  All other areas to be dedicated for public use shall be clearly identified on the Final Plat or Certified Survey 

Map, with its intended purpose noted. 

(Code 1965, §21.13(1)(d), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

 

Sec. 17-31.  Reservation of road street widths. 

 
 Minimum street right-of-way widths are identified in §17-25.  Any street Road widths requested in excess of the minimum 

primary arterial rights-of-way established in this ordinance are required to requirements must be reserved as specified in §17-

29(e)(3). 

(Code 1965, §21.13(2)(a), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 
 

Sec. 17-32.  Reservation of public sites. 

 

 Where sites for parks, schools, playgrounds or other public uses except streets, as shown in the comprehensive plan, are 

located within the subdivision or minor land division area, the Common Council shall require that the sites be reserved by the 



Page | 8 

 

subdivider for a period of two (2) years from the date of approval of the Final Plat as specified in §17-29(e)(3).  If the a 

government agency, other than the City, concerned passes a resolution expressing its intent to acquire the land so to be 

reserved, the reservation process and time period specified in §17-29(e)(3) shall apply be extended for an additional six (6) 

months.  Public reservations shall be clearly identified on the plat; e.g., “Reserved for Public School Site”.  The Council may 

by resolution waive any reservation so required. 
(Code 1965, §21.13(2)(b), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

 

Sec. 17-33.  Private reservations. 

 

 Reservation of areas for the exclusive use of the occupants of a subdivision may be permitted by the Common Council 

when such reservations will not be contrary to the public health, safety, morals or general welfare, and such areas shall be 

clearly identified on the preliminary and final plats or certified survey maps as private reservations. 

(Code 1965, §21.13(2)(c), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

 

Sec. 17-34.  Right of refusal.    
 

 The number, size and location of all dedications, reservations or easements shall be subject to approval, and the Common 

Council shall ascertain that the proposed sites are suitable for the proposed uses.  The Council retains the right to refuse any 

dedication.  Upon refusal, an alternative parkland and/or trail dedication or payment in lieu of dedication shall occur. 

(Code 1965, §21.13(3), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

 

Sec. 17-35.  Accomplishment Acceptance of dedication. 

 

 When a final plat of a subdivision located in the City has been approved by the Common Council and all other required 

approvals are obtained and the plat is recorded, that approval constitutes acceptance for the purpose designated on the plat of 
all lands shown in the plat as dedicated to the public, including street dedications.  This also applies to certified survey maps 

following the process described in §17-29(h). 

(Code 1965, §21.13(4), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

RECOMMENDATION ___________________________________________________  _ 

Pending public comments, staff recommends the text amendments to Chapter 17 Subdivision Ordinance 

of the Municipal Code relating to Section 17-3 General Provisions, Section 17-4 Preplatting 

Requirements, Section 17-29 Dedication of Public Sites and Open Spaces, Section 17-30 Identification of 

Dedicated Areas, Section 17-31 Reservation of Road Widths, Section 17-32 Reservation of Public Sites, 

Section 17-33 Private Reservations, Section 17-34 Right of Refusal, and Section 17-35 Accomplishment 

of Dedication, as identified in this report, BE APPROVED. 



 

 

CITY OF APPLETON 
Appleton, Wisconsin 

 
FEE-IN-LIEU OF LAND DEDICATION AND  
PUBLIC FACILITY NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Baker Tilly US, LLP 
4807 Innovate Lane 

P.O. Box 7398 
Madison, WI 53707-7398 

608 249 6622 
800 362 7301 

 
 

Dated: March 7, 2022 



 

 

Table of Contents 
 

 

 

 Page No. 

 

Executive Summary 1 – 2 

 

Introduction 3 

 

Section A – Statutory Requirements 4 

 

Section B – Compliance with Wisconsin Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication 5 – 6 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements 7 – 10 

 

Appendix A 11 - 12 

 

 

 



City of Appleton 
Page 1 

 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 

 
The purpose of this project was to evaluate and update the City’s current fee-in-lieu of land 
dedication under Wisconsin Statute, Chapter 236, and Section 236.45 Local Subdivisions 
Requirements. If a municipality charges a fee-in-lieu of land dedication in accordance with 
Wisconsin State Statute 236.45(6) (am), the municipality must follow the procedures under s. 
66.0617 (3) to (5) and meet the requirements under s. 66.0617 (6) to (10). 
 
According to the City of Appleton’s (the “City”) 2019-2023 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan 
(page 14), the City is expecting to have population growth of 3.0% every decade. This anticipated 
growth will require additions to the City’s parkland and park facilities. A fee-in-lieu of land dedication 
will continue to assist in financing the acquisition or initial improvement of land for public parks.  
 
The City currently charges a fee in lieu of land dedication as established by the following ordinance: 
 

Appleton, WI Municipal Code, Sec. 17-29. Ordinance No. 44-09, 3-10-2009 

 
Per the City, they have not updated the fee-in-lieu of land dedication since 2009. 
  
This document serves as a summary of Baker Tilly’s analysis of the City’s existing fee-in-lieu of land 
dedication. It also serves to satisfy the statutory obligations as outlined in Wisconsin Statute 66.0617 
and Wisconsin Statute 236.45 to update its existing fees and public facility needs assessment. The 
primary resources used in this development of this study include:  
 

 The City used the The City of Appleton 2019-2023 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation (the 
Plan) as the facility needs assessment. 

 The City of Appleton 2019-2023 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation (the Plan) as prepared 
by Rettler Corporation adopted on September 18, 2019. See the acknowledgements section 
of the Plan for those that were involved in its creation. The Plan is located on the City’s 
website. https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-
2019.pdf 

 The park inventory listing as provided by the City. This document was compiled by the City 
from the Plan. Refer to Appendix A. 
 

 The land cost as provided by the City. The land cost is based on the City-wide average cost 
of unimproved land acquisition based on recent land sales and the cost to improve the land 
for public parks. Per s. 236.45(6)(ac), “improvement for public parks” means grading, 
landscaping, installation of utilities, construction of sidewalks, installation of playground 
equipment, and construction or installation of restroom facilities on land intended for public 
park purposes.”  The average of four recent sales was used to determine an average cost per 
acre.  The four sales include the following: 

 
Tax Municipality Close Date Price Acres Est $/Acre Comments

City of Appleton 3/1/2021 $149,900 2.81 $53,345 single building site w/public water & sewer

City of Appleton 10/2/2020 $161,405 2.74 $58,907 single building site w/public water & sewer

City of Appleton 12/23/2020 $158,500 2.68 $59,142 single building site w/public water & sewer

City of Appleton 10/5/2020 $142,500 2.01 $70,896 single building site w/public water & sewer

average $60,572

  
 

 
 

https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-2019.pdf
https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-2019.pdf


City of Appleton 
Page 2 

 
 

 

Executive Summary (cont.)  
 

 

 U.S. Census data 2019 5-year estimates related to persons-per-household per dwelling unit 
type. 

 

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Housing&g=1600000US5502375&tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP04&hide
Preview=true 

 
 
 
This study should be read in conjunction with these resources. We provide no assurance on the 
accuracy of the resources used to develop this study. 

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Housing&g=1600000US5502375&tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP04&hidePreview=true
https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Housing&g=1600000US5502375&tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP04&hidePreview=true


City of Appleton 
Page 3 

 
 

 

Introduction  
 

 
As previously stated in the Executive Summary, the City expects to experience population growth 
through 2030. Planning responsibly for new growth within a community is one of many challenges 
facing local governments. Effective accommodation of this development requires additional park 
land to accommodate growth as well as the construction and upgrade of public facilities and 
infrastructure to serve new residents.  
 
It is common that during the construction and upgrade of public infrastructure, many residents and 
businesses that will occupy the newly developed areas of the community may not yet be present. 
The purchase of land and the development of land often precedes the inhabiting of the property. 
While this may be an obvious fact, it holds important consequence for the public financing of new 
development. In order to apportion the public costs of new development fairly and responsibly, some 
measures must be undertaken to ensure that the entire cost of accommodating new development is 
not born solely by the current residents of the municipality. One such measure to accomplish this 
goal is the use of a fee-in-lieu of land dedication to offset the initial cost to local taxpayers of 
satisfying the additional demand on the public infrastructure and park land. 



City of Appleton 
Page 4 

 
 

 

Section A – Statutory Requirements 
 

 
A fee-in-lieu of land dedication must follow the requirements of Wisconsin State Statute Chapter 236 
– Platting Lands and Recording and Vacating Plats. See the requirements below.  
 
In addition, if a municipality charges a fee-in-lieu of land dedication in accordance with Wisconsin 
State Statute 236.45(6) (am), the municipality must follow the procedures under s. 66.0617 (3) to (5) 
and meet the requirements under s. 66.0617 (6) to (10). The City understands these requirements.   
 
Wisconsin State Statute Chapter 236.45(6) – Requirements for Approval Conditions 
 

 Per Subsection(6)(ac), “Improvement of land for public parks” means grading, landscaping, 
installation of utilities, construction of sidewalks, installation of playground equipment, and 
construction or installation of restroom facilities on land intended for public park purposes.  

Based on the definition above, only allowable costs are included in the fee-in-lieu of land 
dedication.  

 Per Subsection (6)(b), any land dedication, easement, or other public improvement or fee for the 
acquisition or initial improvement of land for a public park that is required by a municipality, town, or 
county as a condition of approval under this chapter must bear a rational relationship to a need for 
the land dedication, easement, or other public improvement, parkland acquisition or initial 
improvement fee resulting from the subdivision or other division of land and must be proportional to 
the need. 

The City is meeting this requirement. The City is providing a service level of 6.99 acres per 1,000 
residents. See Appendix A. 

 Per Subsection (6)(c), If a subdivision ordinance of a municipality, town, or county requires, as a 
condition of approval under this chapter, that a subdivider dedicate land for public park, the 
municipality, town or county may offer the subdivider the option of either dedicating land consistent 
with the municipality’s, town’s or county’s park plan and comprehensive plan or paying a fee or 
other charge under par (am) in lieu of the dedication. If the subdivider elects to pay a fee or other 
charge under the paragraph, the fee or other charge is payable by the landowner to the 
municipality, town, or county upon issuance of a building permit by the municipality, town, or 
county. If the subdivider elects to dedicate land under this paragraph, unless the municipality, town, 
or county agrees otherwise, the subdivider only may dedicate land that is consistent with the 
municipality’s, town’s or county’s park plan and comprehensive plan.  

See Section C for the fee-in-lieu of land dedication fee calculation and the land dedication square 
footage requirements. If land dedication is selected, the City’s land dedication standard is 423.66 
square feet per person. See the assumptions and calculations in Section C. 

 

NOTE: The fee-in-lieu of land dedication requirements outlined in this section are subject to change by 
the legislature at any time. Refer to the state statute for the statutory requirements.  



City of Appleton 
Page 5 

 
 

 

Section B – Compliance with Wisconsin Fee-in-lieu of Land Dedication 
Requirements  
 

 

Fee-In-Lieu of Land Dedication Process 
 
See Wisconsin State Statute 66.0617 for the detailed process. In addition, if a municipality charges a 
fee-in-lieu of land dedication in accordance with Wisconsin State Statute 236.45(6), the municipality 
must follow the procedures under s. 66.0617 (3) to (5) and meet the requirements under s. 66.0617 
(6) to (10).  
 
The process followed and information utilized in the development of the fee-in-lieu of land dedication 
is summarized below: 

  

• Requires a Public Hearing (s. 66.0617 (3)):  

Class 1 notice under Chapter 985  

Provide copy of proposed ordinances  

Provide public facilities needs assessment  

• Based on a Public Facilities Needs Assessment (s. 66.0617 (4)):  

Inventory of existing facilities, including deficiencies  

Identification of new public facilities  

Estimated (or actual) capital cost of new public facilities  

Effect of recovering capital costs on affordable housing  

Available for public inspection and copying in the office of the clerk 

at least 20 days before hearing 

 

• Establish Accounting Requirements:  

Use of funds restricted  

Subject to refund  

• Specify Appeal Procedure (s. 66.0617 (10))  

 



City of Appleton 
Page 6 

 
 

 

Section B – Compliance with Wisconsin Fee-in-lieu of Land Dedication 
Requirements (cont.)  
 

 

Imposition of the Fee-in-lieu of Land Dedication 
 
The park fee-in-lieu of land dedication will be due upon issuance of a building permit.  

 

Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617(7) – Low-Cost Housing 

In general, the level of the fees in relation to average housing cost should not impede the affordability 
of low-cost housing. For example, including the proposed single-family fee-in-lieu of land dedication 
of $1,115, in a typical 30-year mortgage at 3% interest would equate to an additional monthly 
payment of $4.85.  According to Zillow, the median home price in Appleton is $204,832 (a). Assuming 
a down payment of 20%, the average monthly mortgage payment would be $691. The fee-in-lieu 
would be 0.7% of the monthly payment. In addition, if the owner of a multifamily dwelling were to 
include the proposed multi-family fees of $943 in a mortgage with the same terms, the additional 
monthly payment would be $3.98 or 0.4% of the monthly payment.  
 

Information from the 2015-2019 US Census showed that the City of Appleton’s median household income 

was $58,112 (2019 dollars). Wisconsin’s median household income was $61,747 (2019 dollars). 

 

(a) https://www.zillow.com/appleton-wi/home-values/ 

 

 

Updates to the Report 
 
The fee-in-lieu of land dedication should be evaluated for adjustment at least every five years to 
account for increases / decreases in raw land costs, grading and utilities. The City may also wish to 
adjust the fee periodically based on the Engineering News Record Municipal Cost Index.  This will 
allow for changes in growth, project costs, estimates or other projects to be incorporated into the fees. 
See assumptions for recommendations.  

https://www.zillow.com/appleton-wi/home-values/


City of Appleton 
Page 7 

 
 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements 
 

 

Assumptions  
 

 The fee in lieu of parkland dedication was last updated in 2009.  

The City’s current 2019-2023 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (the Plan) was used as the 
basis for this study. This Plan was approved on September 18, 2019. As noted in the Plan, “A 
growing body of research provides evidence of the importance of parks, open space, 
and leisure programming to the environmental, social, and economic health of 
Communities.” The plan also supports the guidelines established in the City of Appleton 2010-
2030 Comprehensive Plan. Both plans can be found on the City website. 

https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-2019.pdf 

https://www.appleton.org/government/planning/city-of-appleton-comprehensive-plan-2010-2030 

 According to the City, 2020 Census data indicate the 2020 population estimate for the City is 
75,644, which is an increase of approximately 3,021 since the 2010 U.S. Census (72,623 
population) or a 4.1% increase. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/appletoncitywisconsin   

 The City’s fee-in-lieu of land dedication standard is based on 529.08 acres of parkland. This is 
comprised of 242.06 acres of community parks, 178.32 acres of neighborhood parks and 
108.70 acres of special use parks such as Houdini Plaza and Reid Golf Course.  

 The land costs to calculate the fee-in-lieu of land dedication is based on the City-wide average 
cost of land acquisition and “improvements of land for public park costs” as allowed for under 
Chapter 236. Recent raw land sales with utility improvements show the average cost per acre 
is $60,572.  This is also refenced on Page 1. 

 Park development fees will not be assessed to nonresidential land uses as park usage is 
primarily residential in this community. 

 The Park & Open Space standards can be found in the City of Appleton 2019-2023 
Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan. 

 For purposes of this analysis, it is assumed that there will be an average of 2.59 persons per 
household for single-family housing units and 2.19 persons per household for duplex and 
multifamily housing units as per recent census data.  

 

https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-2019.pdf
https://www.appleton.org/government/planning/city-of-appleton-comprehensive-plan-2010-2030
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/appletoncitywisconsin


City of Appleton 
Page 8 

 
 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements (cont.) 
 

 

Assumptions (cont.) 
 

 The fee-in-lieu of land dedication standard used for consideration in this study is comprised of 
“active-parks” of 529.08 acres. While the type of land dedicated by developers is typically used 
for the development of active use parks, such use is not required. The city is currently providing 
6.99 acres of parkland per 1,000 residents using the 2020 population of 75,644. The calculation 
is (529.08 / 75,644)*1,000 = 6.99. 

 The City’s land dedication requirement is 304.67 square feet per person. This is computed as 
follows: (6.99 acres * 43,560 square feet in an acre) / 1,000 = 304.67 square foot per person. 
This is then multiplied by the persons per household to determine the land dedication square 
footage.  

 

Recommendation 
 
The City should consider whether its existing fee-in-lieu of land dedication fee should be updated 
with the fees identified and explained on the following pages.  
 



City of Appleton 
Page 9 

 
 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements (cont.) 
 

 
 
Fee Summary  
 

1 2

Dwelling (A)

Unit Persons Cost per 3 (1*2)

Type per Household Person Fee

Single Family 2.59               423.66$           1,097.29$           

Multi-Family 2.19               423.66$           927.83$              

Standards:

Cost standard per acre 60,572$              B

Parkland acres per 1,000 residents 6.99                   C

Cost per Person:

Cost standard per acre 60,572$              B

Multiplied by: acres per person 0.0069943           per above

Cost per person 423.66$              

A) Source: U.S. Census Bureau

B) Per the City of Appleton - based recent land sales w/utilities

C) Per the City of Appleton CORP

  

 

 

 

 

 



City of Appleton 
Page 10 

 
 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements (cont.) 

 

 
 

Land Dedication 

 

If land dedication is selected versus paying a fee-in-lieu of land dedication, the following land dedication 
square footage applies and will be applied prior to the Final Plat: 

 

Land Dedication Requirement

1 2

Dwelling (A) 3 (1*2)

Unit Persons Square Foot Land Dedication

Type per Household per Person Square Footage

Single Family 2.59 304.67             789.11                

Multi-Family 2.19 304.67             667.26                

Standards:

Square feet per acre 43,560                

Parkland acres per 1,000 residents 6.99                   B

Square Foot per Person:

          Parkland acres per person (7.11 / 1,000) 0.006994            B

          Multiplied by: Square feet per acre 43,560                per above

Square feet per person 304.67                

A) Source: U.S. Census Bureau

B) Per the City of Appleton



City of Appleton 
Page 11 

 
 

 

APPENDIX A 



City of Appleton 
Page 12 

 
 

 

Park

Park Type Acres

Included In Park Improvement Calculation 

1 Appleton Memorial (AMP) Community 140.10         

2 Erb Community 27.75           

3 Pierce Community 34.91           

4 Telulah Community 39.30           

Subtotal 242.06         

1 Alicia Neighborhood 12.00           

2 Arbutus Neighborhood 3.44      

3 City Neighborhood 8.00      

4 Colony Oaks Neighborhood 7.88            

5 Derks Neighborhood 9.07      

6 Einstein Neighborhood 6.60      

7 Ellen Kort Peace Neighborhood 3.38      

8 Green Meadows Neighborhood 5.60      

9 Highview Neighborhood 12.59     

10 Hoover Neighborhood 11.60     

11 Jaycee Neighborhood 4.00      

12 Jones Neighborhood 5.75      

13 Kiwanis Neighborhood 6.50      

14 Linwood Neighborhood 9.50      

15 Lions Neighborhood 4.40      

16 Lutz Neighborhood 2.70      

17 Mead Neighborhood 8.50      

18 Lundgaard Neighborhood 7.02      

19 Peabody Neighborhood 16.20     

20 Pioneer Neighborhood 0.52      

21 Providence Neighborhood 3.33      

22 Schaefer Neighborhood 6.40      

23 Summit Neighborhood 5.49      

24 Veterans Neighborhood 2.00      

25 Vosters Neighborhood 5.10      

26 Vulcan Heritage Neighborhood 2.05      

27 Woodland Neighborhood 8.70      

Subtotal 178.32         

1 Houdini Plaza Special Areas 1.00            

2 Reid Golf Course Special Areas 107.60         

3 Union Springs Special Areas 0.10            

Subtotal 108.70         

Total Park Acreage 529.08         

2020 Population 75,644         

Parkland per 1,000 residents 6.99            

 



 
 
 
 

 
TO: Finance Committee 
  
FROM: Kara Homan, AICP, Director of Community & Economic Development 
 Jeri Ohman, Director of Finance  
 
DATE: January 18, 2023 

RE: Request to award ARPA Affordable Housing grant funds to RISE 
Apartments, LLC for a grant total not to exceed $1,000,000 

 
 
The City of Appleton, via its American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) consultant, Booth 
Management Consulting (BMC), released an Affordable Housing Production Grant as a 
first step to allocate the City’s $3 million ARPA Affordable Housing allocation, as 
previously approved/budgeted.  Grant applications were due December 12, 2022.  Two 
applications were received, requesting a total of approximately $2 million.  Both 
applications were reviewed by BMC for completeness and ARPA program 
alignment/regulatory compliance. 
 
Finance and Community & Economic Development staff are advancing a 
recommendation for one grant application (Rise Apartments, LLC), summarized below.  
The second grant application remains under review by administration. 
 
Project Applicant: RISE Apartments, LLC 
Project Name:  RISE Apartments 
Grant Request:  $1,000,000 
Total Project Cost:  $13,913,458 (est.) 
Project Description: Construct a 48-unit affordable housing community at the NW and 
SW Corners of the intersection of Harris St. and N. Oneida St. in Downtown Appleton 
(See Exhibit 1: Concept Plan).  Said project is in alignment with the City’s College 
Avenue North Neighborhood Plan, and will provide 43 rental units dedicated to 
households earning less than 60% of Area Median Income.  The project has been 
awarded WHEDA affordable housing tax credits & is also bound by a development 
agreement with the City of Appleton (executed December 2021, amended October 
2022).  Grant award will be used to keep the project financially solvent considering 
escalating construction costs due to inflationary pressures. 

 
Staff Recommendation:  
Staff recommends approval of an ARPA Affordable Housing grant allocation of 
$1,000,000 to RISE Apartments, LLC. 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



- 2 - 

Exhibit 1: RISE Apartments Concept Plan 
 

 
 

 



 

Memorandum 
 

TO:   Fox Cities Transit Commission, City of Appleton Common Council 

FROM:  Ron McDonald, General Manager 

DATE:   January 17, 2023 

RE:   Award Recommendation for Computer Aided Dispatch/Automatic Vehicle Location (CAD/AVL) System  

BACKGROUND 

Valley Transit’s fixed-route bus service has utilized CAD/AVL system technology since 2011. A CAD/AVL system 

is comprised of onboard hardware and software providing vital service data to multiple audiences and platforms. 

The hardware installed on every vehicle includes a rugged tablet installed near the driver and communication 

cabling connecting the tablet to onboard systems (destination sign, farebox, automatic passenger counters, 

interior LED sign and announcement system).  The CAD/AVL system is also connected to mobile cellular networks 

to send and receive data from a cloud-based server. CAD/AVL systems also include a software component. The 

software includes a web-based interface providing Valley Transit staff with vehicle location maps, access to 

operational data and other service oversight tools that help to maintain safe and effective service. The software 

also provides service data and other travel information to applications used by transit riders. 

A significant benefit of a CAD/AVL system is access to real-time service data for riders and Valley Transit staff. 

This data includes accurate vehicle location (updating every 4 seconds); ADA-required onboard stop 

announcements; boarding & alighting data at each bus stop location; schedule and predictive bus stop arrival 

times; and various types of operation data (miles, hours, etc.) needed for reporting. The CAD/AVL system also 

serves as a central hub in the vehicle and ties together multiple onboard systems to ensure coordination of 

different functions. For example, the onboard tablet accesses current route and bus stop sequence information 

from a server using onboard cellular data and combines this with geographic coordinates from GPS. This 

layered data is relayed to onboard equipment, like onboard bus stop announcements, fare collection and 

destination sign messaging, and end-user applications. 

Drivers interact with the CAD/AVL system from the supplied touch screen rugged tablet. Drivers use the tablet 

to login, logout, select route work, receive info from dispatch and receive schedule adherence feedback to aid 

on-time performance.  

Valley Transit purchased and installed its first CAD/AVL system in 2011 from a vendor called Trapeze. In 2018, 

the contract was awarded to DoubleMap (current vendor). The full DoubleMap product is being discontinued by 

the vendor and will no longer be supported after 12/31/2023, which necessitated the search for a replacement 

system. 

In preparation for this procurement, Valley Transit staff developed a request for proposal (RFP) document to 

solicit proposals from vendors. As part of this process, staff reviewed existing products in the market and other 

transit properties’ RFP documents. City of Appleton IT staff also reviewed the project in the planning stages and 

provided feedback.   



The RFP document was sent directly to vendors who were known suppliers; posted on the State of Wisconsin’s 

Vendornet system; and advertised in print and online with the Post-Crescent, Green Bay Press Gazette and the 

Oshkosh Northwestern. Proposals were due on December 15, 2022. Five proposals were received prior to the 

required deadline: Equans (Sandy Springs, GA), TransLoc (Durham, NC), Strategic Mapping, Inc (Tampa, FL), GMV 

(Los Angeles, CA) and Passio (Atlanta, GA).  

ANALYSIS 

Each proposal was evaluated based on the vendor’s compliance with the stated specifications, product 

capabilities, experience, qualifications, training, support & price. GMV proposal was rated highest after the written 

proposal evaluation and was subsequently moved forward in the evaluation process. GMV was then invited to 

provide a product demonstration on January 11, 2023. After consideration of the written proposal, cost proposal 

and product demo, the evaluation team unanimously concluded GMV’s proposal provided the greatest overall 

benefit for Valley Transit.  

GMV’s written proposal clearly described the system capabilities in relation to the scope of work, implementation, 

system support and training process. GMV’s product utilizes the same rugged tablet model currently in service 

for Valley Transit, which provides a cost savings for the project. By utilizing the same tablet, the driver will interact 

with the same display and input similar data on the touchscreen.  All other proposers required the purchase of a 

new logic unit (onboard computer) and mobile data terminal (driver display) for each vehicle. This new equipment 

added expense and was often supplied solely by the proposer, which would limit competition for hardware 

replacement. This was a significant concern for the evaluation team.  

All GMV references provided positive feedback on the system’s reliability, functionality, training, and support. 

GMV’s current customer base focuses small to mid-size transit systems, which should benefit Valley Transit as 

the product evolves.   

A key factor in selecting the next CAD/AVL system was integration with existing onboard equipment and other 

third-party software used by Valley Transit. GMV provided ample examples of successive integration with current 

systems onboard Valley Transit vehicles and other software products used by Valley Transit, like Optibus 

(scheduling & planning) and TransTrack (data management system).  

GMV’s system includes a multi-channel notification system, where staff can formulate messaging in the software 

and instantly share it with several connected platforms (twitter, transit app, Google, website message widget, 

onboard signage and onboard annunciation). The evaluation team found this feature to be a great benefit when 

communicating service changes or detours. The new system also includes: a bus tracking public website; 

automatic voice announcement system; automatic passenger counting system; GTFS Real-Time feed generation 

(data needed for Google Transit); live video streaming for dispatch; driver messaging; schedule adherence 

feedback for drivers and dispatchers; cloud-based administrative software; and access to data in reports or raw 

format. 

GMV proposed a 6-month timeline for implementation. Depending on contract execution, Valley Transit 

anticipates full system roll-out in the third quarter of 2023.  

FISCAL IMPACT 



The project will have a total year-one fiscal impact of $366,510. This amount includes $331,420 in system set-up 

and capital costs, as well as, $35,090 for an annual software licensing fee.  In contract years 2-5, GMV’s annual 

software  fee is $35,090. Valley Transit requests an additional 10% contingency  for unknown costs expected 

during implementation.  This brings the total 5-year project cost to $557,557. 

Existing federal grants would cover 80% of the system set-up and capital costs.  The remaining cost would be 

expensed from Valley Transit’s annual budget.  Ongoing software maintenance fees in contract years 2-5 are 

included in Valley Transit’s annual budget and are paid for by State and Federal grants (60%) and local share 

(40%). 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends authorization for Valley Transit to enter into a contract with GMV to provide a Computer Aided 

Dispatch/Automatic Vehicle Location System.  



RESOLUTION OF SUPPORT FOR FY 2023 RAISE GRANT APPLICATION FOR THE 

DOWNTOWN APPLETON: VALLEY TRANSIT REGIONAL MULTIMODAL/JOINT 

DEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

 

WHEREAS, the Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity “RAISE” 

Transportation Grants Program provides dedicated, discretionary funding for transportation infrastructure 

projects of local or regional significance; and  

 

WHEREAS, the United States Department of Transportation is soliciting applications for $1.5 

billion for the FY 2023 RAISE Grants Program as appropriated through the National Infrastructure 

Investments; and  

 

WHEREAS, the FY 2023 RAISE Grants Program directs funds be divided not more than 50 percent 

for rural areas and 50 percent for urbanized areas and requires measures to ensure an equitable geographic 

distribution of grant funds and an appropriate balance in addressing the needs of urban and rural areas; and  

 

WHEREAS, eligible projects for FY 2023 RAISE Grants Program include surface transportation 

capital projects including highway, bridge, or other road projects as well as public transportation projects, 

passenger and freight rail transportation projects, port infrastructure investments, surface transportation 

components of an airport project, and intermodal projects, among others; and  

 

WHEREAS, the maximum award for this round of FY 2023 RAISE Grants Program is $25 million; 

and  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton is seeking funds to construct the downtown Appleton Valley 

Transit Center and Joint Development mixed use housing development; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed improvements will improve transit passenger and driver safety, local 

and regional community connectivity, access to jobs and education, and supports a public/private 

partnership to develop mixed income housing; and  

 

WHEREAS, the project is identified in the Valley Transit-Transit Center Needs Assessment Master 

Plan; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton will provide funding towards the 20 percent local match as 

identified in the RAISE grant application, which includes the use of funding programmed for maintenance, 

secured funding through other grant programs, and additional program funding as applicable; and  

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Appleton City Council supports and approves 

the application towards FY 2023 RAISE Grants Program for the Valley Transit Regional Multimodal/Joint 

Development Project. 

 



STREETFRONT RENDERING
220544 |  Appleton Valley Transit Center 12/19/22



BUSWAY RENDERING
220544 |  Appleton Valley Transit Center 12/19/22



3-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 17-3(d) OF CHAPTER 17 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO GENERAL 
PROVISIONS; DEDICATION AND RESERVATION OF LANDS. 

(City Plan Commission – 2-1-2023) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 17-3(d) of Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to general provisions; dedication and reservation of lands, is hereby amended 

to read as follows: 

Sec. 17-3. General provisions. 
 

 (d) Dedication and reservation of lands.  Streets, Highways, Trails, 
Parks, Drainageways, Stormwater Facilities, and Floodplain.  Whenever a tract of 
land to be divided or developed within the jurisdiction of this ordinance 
encompasses all or any part of a street, highway, trail, park, drainageway, 
stormwater facility, floodplain, or other public way which has been designated on 
the official map, comprehensive plan, or other plan officially adopted by 
Common Council, said public way shall be dedicated or reserved by the owner in 
the locations and dimensions indicated on said plan and as set forth in this 
ordinance. 
 
 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 

4-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 17-4 OF CHAPTER 17 OF THE MUNICIPAL 
CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO PREPLATTING 
REQUIREMENTS. 

(City Plan Commission – 2-1-2023) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 17-4 of Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to preplatting requirements, is hereby amended to read as follows: 



Sec. 17-4.  Preplatting requirements. 
 

 (a) Preplatting conference.  Prior to submitting an application for the approval of a 
Preliminary Plat within the corporate limits, the subdivider shall schedule a preplattting 
conference with the City Engineer or their designee.  The purpose of the preplatting conference 
is to provide an opportunity for communication between the subdivider and City staff, regarding 
the purpose and objectives of these regulations, the Official Map, Comprehensive Plan, 
Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan, Trails Master Plan, zoning regulations, erosion control 
and stormwater management practices, neighborhood plans, and duly adopted plan 
implementation devices of the City, and to otherwise assist the subdivider in planning the 
development.  The subdivider will receive information regarding required procedures. 
 
  (1) The City staff involved in the preplatting conference shall include, but not 

be limited to, representatives from the Department of Public Works, 
Community and Economic Development Department, Parks, Recreation 
and Facilities Management Department, and Fire Department. 

 
 (b) Required information.  The following information shall be submitted to the City 
Engineer or their designee prior to the preplatting conference: 
 
  (1) The scaled sketch plan shall show: 
 
    a. The title, scale, north point, and date; 
 
    b. The boundaries of the property to be subdivided; 
 
    c. Natural characteristics such as drainage, wetlands, steep slopes, 

hills, ridges, floodplains, environmentally sensitive lands, and 
wooded areas; 

 
    d. Development characteristics such as surrounding streets, existing 

structures, and available utilities; 
 
    e. The proposed layout of streets, blocks, and lots; 
 
    f. The proposed location of business, parkland, trails, and other 

nonresidential areas; 
 
    g. Existing easements and covenants affecting the property; and 
 
    h. Where site conditions permit, any tract subdivided into parcels 

containing one (1) or more acres shall be arranged to allow future 
resubdivision of any parcels into smaller lots. 

 
  (2) The scaled location sketch shall show the relationship of the proposed 

subdivision to: 



 
    a. Traffic arterials; 
 
    b. Schools, parks, playgrounds, trails, and other community facilities; 
 
    c. Churches and retail facilities; 
 
    d. Public transportation; 
 
    e. Local zoning districts; and 
 
    f. Existing plats. 
 

 (3) The subdivider shall indicate how they propose to accommodate parkland 
and/or trail needs in a manner that is consistent with §17-29. 

 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 

5-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 17-29 OF CHAPTER 17 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO DEDICATION 
OF PUBLIC PARKS AND OTHER PUBLIC SITES. 

(City Plan Commission – 2-1-2023) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 17-29 of Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to dedication of public parks and other public sites, is hereby amended to read 

as follows: 

Sec. 17-29.  Dedication of public parks and other public sites. 
 
 (a) Purpose.  The requirements of this section are established to ensure that adequate 
parks, open spaces, and sites for other public uses are properly located and preserved as the 
community develops. This section has also been established to ensure that the cost of providing 
park and recreation sites and facilities necessary to serve the additional people brought into the 
community by development may be equitably apportioned on the basis of the additional need 
created by the individual development.  The requirements shall apply to all lands proposed for all 
residential development. 
 



 (b) Applicability.  Any subdivision or minor land division (certified survey map) 
approval which enables the creation of additional dwelling units, and that has not already been 
subject to the requirements of this section, shall require compliance with the parkland and/or trail 
dedication and fee in lieu of dedication requirements included in this section. 
 
 (c) Exception.  Reconfiguration of existing lots and redevelopment which does not 
create new, additional lots shall not be subject to the provisions of this section.  Zoning districts 
not listed in the tables under §17-29(e)(1) and §17-29(f)(1) are exempt from the provisions of 
this section. 
 
 (d) Conformance with adopted ordinances and planning documents.  The location, 
size, standards, and recommendations related to parkland and/or trail dedication and fee in lieu of 
parkland and/or trail dedication shall be consistent with the following adopted city documents: 
Official Map, Comprehensive Plan, Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan, Trails Master 
Plan, and/or other document officially adopted by Common Council. 
 
 (e) Parkland and/or trail dedication.  Within the corporate limits of the City, the 
subdivider shall dedicate land to provide for park, trail, and/or recreation needs in accordance 
with the adopted ordinances and planning documents described in subsection (d) above. 
 
  (1) Dedication area calculation.  The dedication to the public shall be a 

minimum of three (3) acres or an amount of land to be determined as 
specified in the following table, whichever is greater. 

 
 

 
Zoning District 

Land Dedication  
(per dwelling unit) 

R-1A, R-1B, R-1C, and R-2 800 square feet 
R-3, PD, and TND 650 square feet 

 
  (2) Dedication consultation and land evaluation.  The location, suitability, 

and dimensions of the land to be dedicated shall be determined in 
consultation between the subdivider and appropriate City departments (see 
§17-4), prior to submission of the preliminary plat or certified survey map.  
The land to be dedicated must be free of wetlands, floodplain, or other 
limitations that would prevent the land from being used for parkland 
purposes, unless this requirement is waived by the Director of Parks, 
Recreation and Facilities Management or their designee. 

 
   a. Factors used in evaluating the adequacy of land to be dedicated 

shall include, but not be limited to, size, shape, topography, 
geography, tree cover, access, and location of people to be served. 

 
    b. Stormwater ponds may be located within the land to be dedicated, 

but pond square footage shall not count toward the dedication 
requirement unless designed and constructed to serve as a park 



amenity, as determined by the Director of Parks, Recreation and 
Facilities Management or their designee. 

 
  (3) Reservation of additional land.  Where the adopted ordinances and 

planning documents described in §17-29(d) call for a larger amount of 
land than the subdivider is required to dedicate, the land needed beyond 
the minimum amount shall be reserved for subsequent purchase by the 
City.  Such acquisition must occur within three (3) years from the date of 
approval of the final plat or certified survey map, unless the timing or 
other details regarding the conveyance are modified by the development 
agreement.  If such acquisition does not occur within the specified time 
period, the City shall release the reservation. 

 
   
 
 
 (f) Proportionate payment in lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication.  Where such 
dedication is not feasible or is not consistent with the adopted ordinances and planning 
documents described in subsection (d) above, the landowner shall, in lieu thereof, pay to the City 
a fee equivalent to the value of the required dedication.   
 
  (1) Fee amount.  In lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication, the landowner 

shall pay to the City a fee according to the zoning classification of each lot 
as specified in the following table: 

 
 

Zoning District  
In Lieu Payment  

(per dwelling unit) 
R-1A, R-1B, R-1C, and R-2 $1,100.00 

R-3, PD, and TND $900.00 
 
  (2) Fee collection.  The required payment shall be made by the landowner 

upon the issuance of a building permit for individual lots. 
 
  (3) Fee deposit.  Such fees shall be deposited and held in a nonlapsing fund to 

be used exclusively for immediate or future site acquisition or capital 
improvement. 

 
  (4) Further division of land.  If a lot or parcel is further divided, payment of 

the fee as specified in this section must be made, upon issuance of a 
building permit, for each additional undeveloped lot or parcel created by 
the land division. 

 
 (g) Provision of land for trails.  The following requirements are included in this 
chapter to recognize the importance of trails within and between developments.  Trails provide 
access to parks, open spaces, and other community destinations. 
 



  (1) Within the corporate limits of the City, the subdivider shall provide land 
for trail needs in accordance with the adopted ordinances and planning 
documents described in subsection (d) above.  The location, suitability, 
and dimensions shall be determined in consultation between the 
subdivider and appropriate City departments (see §17-4), prior to 
submission of the preliminary plat or certified survey map.  The following 
factors and criteria shall be considered: 

 
    a. A subdivision and/or minor land division adjacent to an existing 

trail shall provide connection(s) to said trail. 
 
   b. A subdivision and/or minor land division in an area identified with 

a proposed trail, per the Trails Master Plan, shall accommodate 
future trail placement using outlot(s) dedicated to the public and/or 
widened street right-of-way.  In limited cases, the use of easements 
may also be considered. 

 
   c. Outlots dedicated to the public for trail purposes shall be exempt 

from any dimensional standards on lot width and lot area found in 
Chapter 23, Zoning of the Municipal Code and from lot design 
standards found in §17-26.  These outlots must be noted as such on 
the Final Plat or Certified Survey Map. 

 
   d. Exact trail placement and configuration is adaptable, based on site 

features at the time of subdividing.  The location and dimensions 
of land needed for a trail shall reasonably accommodate 
development of the property.  To allow for trail pavement, 
clearances, and other amenities, a corridor width of twenty (20) 
feet will be considered typical. 

 
   e. Unless otherwise agreed upon, the City is responsible for design, 

construction, and maintenance of trails after the land is dedicated 
or transferred to the City. 

 
   f. Rules governing trail use are found in Chapter 13, Parks and 

Recreation of the Municipal Code. 
 
  (2) The area of the outlot(s) and/or widened street right-of-way dedicated for 

trail purposes shall be counted toward the parkland dedication requirement 
as specified in §17-29(e). 

 
 (h) Determination of feasibility.  The determination as to the feasibility of dedication 
shall be made by the Common Council.  When dedication to the public is proposed for a certified 
survey map, the acceptance of the dedication must be approved by Common Council before 
administrative approval of the certified survey map. 

 



 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 

6-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 17-30 OF CHAPTER 17 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO 
IDENTIFICATION OF DEDICATED AREAS. 

(City Plan Commission – 2-1-2023) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 17-30 of Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to identification of dedicated areas, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 17-30.  Identification of dedicated areas. 
 
 All areas to be dedicated to the public for streets shall be clearly identified 
as such on the Final Plat or Certified Survey Map.  All other areas to be dedicated 
for public use shall be clearly identified on the Final Plat or Certified Survey 
Map, with its intended purpose noted. 
 
 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 

7-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 17-31 OF CHAPTER 17 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO RESERVATION 
OF STREET WIDTHS. 

(City Plan Commission – 2-1-2023) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 17-31 of Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to reservation of street widths, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 17-31.  Reservation of street widths. 



 
 Minimum street right-of-way widths are identified in §17-25.  Any street 
widths requested in excess of the minimum requirements must be reserved as 
specified in §17-29(e)(3). 
 
 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 

8-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 17-32 OF CHAPTER 17 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO RESERVATION 
OF PUBLIC SITES. 

(City Plan Commission – 2-1-2023) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 17-32 of Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to reservation of public sites, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 17-32.  Reservation of public sites. 
 
 Where sites for parks, schools, playgrounds or other public uses except 
streets are located within the subdivision or minor land division area, the 
Common Council shall require that the sites be reserved by the subdivider as 
specified in §17-29(e)(3).  If a government agency, other than the City, passes a 
resolution expressing its intent to acquire the land to be reserved, the reservation 
process and time period specified in §17-29(e)(3) shall apply. 
 
 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 

9-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 17-33 OF CHAPTER 17 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO PRIVATE 
RESERVATIONS. 

(City Plan Commission – 2-1-2023) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 



 
 

Section 1:  That Section 17-33 of Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to private reservations, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 17-33.  Private reservations. 
 
 Reservation of areas for the exclusive use of the occupants of a 
subdivision may be permitted by the Common Council when such reservations 
will not be contrary to the public health, safety, morals or general welfare, and 
such areas shall be clearly identified on the preliminary and final plats or certified 
survey maps as private reservations. 
 
 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 

10-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 17-34 OF CHAPTER 17 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO RIGHT OF 
REFUSAL. 

(City Plan Commission – 2-1-2023) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 17-34 of Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to right of refusal, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 17-34.  Right of refusal.    
 
 The number, size and location of all dedications, reservations or easements 
shall be subject to approval, and the Common Council shall ascertain that the 
proposed sites are suitable for the proposed uses.  The Council retains the right to 
refuse any dedication.  Upon refusal, an alternative parkland and/or trail 
dedication or payment in lieu of dedication shall occur. 
 
 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 



11-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 17-35 OF CHAPTER 17 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO ACCEPTANCE 
OF DEDICATION. 

(City Plan Commission – 2-1-2023) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 17-35 of Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to acceptance of dedication, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 17-35.  Acceptance of dedication. 
 
 When a final plat of a subdivision located in the City has been approved 
by the Common Council and all other required approvals are obtained and the plat 
is recorded, that approval constitutes acceptance for the purpose designated on the 
plat of all lands shown in the plat as dedicated to the public, including street 
dedications.  This also applies to certified survey maps following the process 
described in §17-29(h). 
 
 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CC Minutes 1-18-23
	0002_1_Burn Awareness Week Proclamation
	0002_2_Transit Equity Day Proclamation
	0002_3_Black History Month Proclamation
	0002_4_Career and Technical Education Month Proclamation
	0002_5_Gun Violence Survivor Week Proclamation
	0003_1_TA 5-22 Notice of Public Hearing Subdivision Ordinance
	0004_1_Public Hearing - SV AppletonPacificOneida
	LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF AREA TO BE VACATED:

	0005_1_SV AppletonPacificOneida - Final Resolution (with exhibits)
	0006_1_Maple Hills 12-7-2022 Final Permit Application
	0007_1_Municipal code19-91memo
	0008_1_Permanent street occ-513 Appleton LLC
	0009_1_Letter for Avenue of Ice sidewalk Occupancy
	0010_1_2023.01.18 - Request to Purchase Red Wave Threat ID Spectrometer
	0011_1_Intent to Apply - Cardiac Monitors - 01.18.2023
	0012_1_Chris R Subert SL
	0013_1_El Guadalajara Mexican Restaurant
	0014_1_StaffReport_TextAmendment_ParklandAndTrails_For01-11-23
	0014_2_FINAL 2022 Fee in Lieu Baker Tilly
	0015_1_Memo ARPA Housing Grant Award 1
	0016_1_Award Recommendation GMV
	0017_1_2023 RAISE Appleton Council Resolution.0117
	0017_2_Conceptual Streetfront and Busway Rendering
	0019_1_Ordinances to Council 2-1-23
	a. Factors used in evaluating the adequacy of land to be dedicated shall include, but not be limited to, size, shape, topography, geography, tree cover, access, and location of people to be served.
	b. Stormwater ponds may be located within the land to be dedicated, but pond square footage shall not count toward the dedication requirement unless designed and constructed to serve as a park amenity, as determined by the Director of Parks, Recre...
	(f) Proportionate payment in lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication.  Where such dedication is not feasible or is not consistent with the adopted ordinances and planning documents described in subsection (d) above, the landowner shall, in lieu ther...
	(1) Fee amount.  In lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication, the landowner shall pay to the City a fee according to the zoning classification of each lot as specified in the following table:

	(2) Fee collection.  The required payment shall be made by the landowner upon the issuance of a building permit for individual lots.
	(3) Fee deposit.  Such fees shall be deposited and held in a nonlapsing fund to be used exclusively for immediate or future site acquisition or capital improvement.

	(4) Further division of land.  If a lot or parcel is further divided, payment of the fee as specified in this section must be made, upon issuance of a building permit, for each additional undeveloped lot or parcel created by the land division.
	(g) Provision of land for trails.  The following requirements are included in this chapter to recognize the importance of trails within and between developments.  Trails provide access to parks, open spaces, and other community destinations.
	a. A subdivision and/or minor land division adjacent to an existing trail shall provide connection(s) to said trail.
	b. A subdivision and/or minor land division in an area identified with a proposed trail, per the Trails Master Plan, shall accommodate future trail placement using outlot(s) dedicated to the public and/or widened street right-of-way.  In limited ca...
	c. Outlots dedicated to the public for trail purposes shall be exempt from any dimensional standards on lot width and lot area found in Chapter 23, Zoning of the Municipal Code and from lot design standards found in §17-26.  These outlots must be n...
	d. Exact trail placement and configuration is adaptable, based on site features at the time of subdividing.  The location and dimensions of land needed for a trail shall reasonably accommodate development of the property.  To allow for trail paveme...
	e. Unless otherwise agreed upon, the City is responsible for design, construction, and maintenance of trails after the land is dedicated or transferred to the City.
	f. Rules governing trail use are found in Chapter 13, Parks and Recreation of the Municipal Code.




